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1 	 FI 
\2,0 	

LED  
JAN ZS 10 40 01'01 

CLERi< 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

THE STATE OF NEVADA, 	 ) 
) 

Plaintiff, 	) 
) 

vs. 	 ) 

DALE EDWARD FLANAGAN, #0737065 	) 
) 

Defendant.  

Case No. C069269 
Dept. No. VII 
Docket No. P 

  

  

Before the Honorable Mark Gibbons 

Wednesday, August 16, 2000, 9:00 a.m. 

Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings 

MOTIONS HEARING 

APPEARANCES: 

(See separate page) 

REPORTED BY: Renee Silvaggio, C.C.R. No. 122 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 

• 
19 
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3 

9 	1 	Las Vegas, Nevada, Wednesday, August 16, 2000, 9:00 a.m. 

2 

3 

4 

	

5 	 THE COURT: Let's go to page four, Case 

	

6 	Number O069269, the State of Nevada versus Dale Flanagan. 

will have counsel state their appearances. 

	

8 	 We'll start with the District Attorney's 

	

9 	Office. 

	

1 0 
	 MR. SIMON: The State is represented by 

	

11 
	

deputy District Attorney Leon Simon and deputized law clerk, 

	

12 
	

Cindy Heron. (ph) 

	

13 
	 THE COURT: Thank you very much. 

	

14 
	 Mr. Potter. 

	

15 
	 MR. POTTER: Your Honor, Cal Potter, 

	

16 
	appearing with Bob Newell, who is from Portland, Oregon. 

	

17 
	 And I wanted to introduce him to the Court. 

	

18 
	 THE COURT: Okay. Thank you very much. 

	

19 
	 Okay. On calendar, we have a number of 

	

20 
	motions. 

	

21 
	 We have the argument on Mr. Flanagan's 

	

22 	petition for writ of habeas corpus; the defendant's motion 

	

23 	for discovery; the defendant's motion for an evidentiary 

	

24 
	

hearing; and the State's motion for waiver of the 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 
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9 
	

1 	attorney/client privilege. 

	

2 	 There was some discussion, if there was some 

	

3 	sort of Motion to disqualify, was it either going to be 

	

4 	filed or may have been filed. I couldn't locate it. 

	

5 	 But I'll ask Mr. Simon if he could fill me 

	

6 
	

in on that. 

	

7 	 MR. SIMON: Yes, Your Honor. 

	

8 	 I don't think any formal motion has been 

	

9 	filed, but the question has come up as to whether our office 

	

10 	should be disqualified due to a conflict of interest. 

	

11 	 I'll just very briefly state the facts to 

	

12 
	

the Court. 

	

13 	 THE COURT: This is Mr. Wall's issue? 

	

14 	 MR. SIMON: Yes. Mr, Wall was one of the 

	

15 	attorneys assigned to represent the defendant at his third 

	

16 	penalty hearing, which is before the Court today. 

	

17 	 He, as the Court knows, has since come to 

	

18 	work for the District Attorney's Office. His office is on 

	

19 	the same floor as mine. It's not right next to mine. 

	

20 
	

The only discussions I've had with Mr. Wall 

	

21 	regarding this case is I informed him that I was handling it 

	

22 
	

and that I would not be able to discuss it with him. 

	

23 
	

I did give him a copy of Rebecca Blaskey's 

	

24 
	

affidavit, which is attached as an exhibit by the defense. 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 
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19 
	

1 	 She was co-counsel with him on the third 

	

2 	penalty phase and has made various allegations tending to 

	

3 	indicate that he did not receive effective assistance of 

	

4 	counsel. 

	

5 	 I think the leading case in Nevada on the 

	

6 	issue of whether or not we should be disqualified under 

	

7 	these circumstances is Collier v. Lee Gates, which is 

	

8 	reported at 98 Nevada 307. 

	

9 	 It's a 1982 case of our Supreme Court. 

	

10 	Basically, it says that, under these circumstances, it's at 

	

11 	the discretion of the Court, considering the full 

	

12 	circumstances of the case before it, and I would submit that 

	

13 	to the Court for a ruling as to whether or not our office 

	

14 	should be disqualified. 

	

15 	 THE COURT: Okay. And I'll just add, Mr. 

	

16 	Potter -- and Mr. Simon, I know is aware of this other 

	

17 	case -- and see if there is some impact -- there was another 

	

18 	case that was a murder case, a death penalty case, that 

	

19 	had that Mr. Wall was prosecuting. 

	

20 	 And it turned out the case originated in the 

	

21 	Public Defender's Office while he was still there. I denied 

	

22 	a motion to disqualify the D.A.'s Office. They filed a writ 

	

23 	on it. 

	

24 
	

The writ was granted, to the extent that Mr. 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 
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9 1 	Wall was told that -- or the District Attorney's Office was 

2 	told that deputies that had nothing to do with the case 

3 	previously had to take it over. 

4 	 And I think Mr. Simon, in fact, was given 

5 	the case to take it over, and it was eventually negotiated. 

6 	 And so the Supreme Court, I know, has -- 

7 	that's an unpublished -- I believe it was an unpublished 

8 	opinion when the writ was granted. 

9 	 So I know they have looked at that issue 

before, even though -- I will be happy to dig it out and get 

you a copy of it, because I think they went through an 

analysis probably similar to what Mr. Simon is talking 

about. 

So if either one of you want to do that, I 

15 	will find it and get you a copy of it so can you look at 

16 	that opinion by the Supreme Court. 

MR. NEWELL: Your Honor, I don't think 

that's necessary. 

Part of the reason for our concern -- and I 

don't have my whole file with me, so I'm not sure exactly 

what we said in the motion; and it's possible that we didn't 

file a formal motion -- but the basis for it was Mr. 

Simon's -- commented at the last hearing that he was not 

sure that they could screen off Mr. wall. 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 

1 0 
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17 
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19 

20 
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1 	 And I'm familiar with the Collier case that 

	

2 	gives the Court the discretion to that says that steps can 

	

3 	be taken, that that's acceptable. 

	

4 	 And Mr. Simon has recently proposed to me 

	

5 	that, rather than discussing the case with Mr. Wall, as he 

20 

	

6 	would any normal witness, we need to depose him in a formal 

	

7 	setting. 

	

8 
	 So I think the Court has discretion, but I 

	

9 
	

think, obviously, from our standpoint, it raises a concern. 

	

1 0 
	 THE COURT: Well, there is a motion before 

	

11 
	me, so I'm not going to interject myself into it. But I 

	

12 
	think the parties probably have some sensible solutions that 

	

13 
	they're discussing on how to deal with it. 

	

14 
	 So I'll let the parties -- if either party 

	

15 
	

isn't satisfied with the resolution, they can feel free to 

	

16 
	

file the appropriate motion. 

	

17 
	 Okay. As far as the -- why don't we go 

	

18 
	ahead with the writ issues. I think we need to deal with 

	

19 
	

that first. 

	

20 	 And, again, I have read everything filed by ' 

	

21 	the parties. I am familiar with the issues. I wasn't 

	

22 	familiar with the case, frankly, until I got it, but I went 

	

23 	through all of this, and I realized there is a long tortured 

	

24 	history to it, but I am familiar with the issues that are 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 
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!O 	1 	before us today. 

2 	 So, Mr. Newell, if you want to argue it -- 

3 	you don't have to repeat what's in your briefs. I've read 

4 	it. I've analyzed all the arguments; made extensive notes 

5 	from what both sides have said. But I would certainly like 

6 	you to address points that you feel may not be addressed 

7 	thoroughly in writing. 

8 	 MR. NEWELL: Sure. Thank you, Your Honor. 

9 	 I'm not -- I've thought quite a bit about 

10 	this, as you might expect, but it seems to me that, given 

11 	the state of the case right now, with the petition having 

12 	been filed and the motions before the Court, that it would 

13 	be appropriate to talk about discovery. 

14 	 There is one exception to that -- 

15 	 THE COURT: Weil, let's see -- let's just, 

16 	before we do that -- maybe I'm getting things out of 

17 	sequence here. 

18 	 MR. NEWELL: Okay. 

19 	 THE COURT: On the motion for discovery, Mr. 

20 	Simon's position then is that I can only do this -- if I 

21 	grant the writ, then we can go into discovery. 

22 	 I do think that issues regarding Mr. -- Miss 

23 	Blaskey and Mr. Wall probably deserve an evidentiary hearing 

24 	in some format to deal with that, and we'll discuss that. 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 

000904 



	

1 	That's just my reaction to reading everything. 

	

2 	 The other issues, I'm open minded on it, but 

	

3 	don't we need to really address the writ before we start 

	

4 	jumping into the discovery, other than that? 

	

5 	 And In thinking more of your motion for 

	

6 	evidentiary hearing, which I was going to grant as to the 

	

7 	issues there with the attorneys and all. 

	

8 	 MR. NEWELL: Well, I can certainly do that, 

	

9 	Your Honor. 

	

10 
	 I have -- I will confess to you, my 

	

11 
	

background is in civil litigation, and so I've had a very 

	

12 
	steep learning curve on this. 

	

13 
	 THE COURT: Well, so is mine, so we're equal 

	

14 
	on this. 

	

15 
	 MR. NEWELL: Okay. I can't find any -- 

	

16 
	anything, either in Nevada or any other state, that says how 

	

17 
	you go about this. 

	

18 
	 And I understand, in a lot of instances, 

	

19 
	with writs, you grant the writ, and then the case goes 

	

20 
	

forward. 

	

21 	 If that's what you are talking about, I 

	

22 	agree with you. In -- 

	

23 	 THE COURT: Well, I mean, under N.R.S. -- I 

	

24 	mean, I think I can grant an evidentiary hearing, which is 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 
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1 	one of your requests, and we can talk about what's in there. 

	

2 	 But as far as discovery, I don't think, 

	

3 	under N.R.S. 34.780, I can just open up discovery at this 

	

4 	stage here, because we're in post-conviction relief. 

	

5 	 And I really think if the writs were 

	

6 	granted, then we certainly would have that option to go in 

	

7 	that direction. 

	

8 
	 But I really think, at this stage here, you 

	

9 
	could have an evidentiary hearing; you would have subpoena 

	

10 
	power; you would have different things. 

	

11 
	 So you are probably going to get what you 

	

12 
	are looking for, solutions as to the issues as to the 

	

13 
	evidentiary hearing anyway, so it's kind of form over 

	

14 
	substance right now. 

	

15 
	 MR. NEWELL: Okay. Well, maybe it would 

	

16 
	

help me to know what the Court has in mind when you say 

	

17 
	granting the writ. 

	

18 
	 THE COURT: Well, no, I didn't say granting 

	

19 
	

the writ. I said granting the evidentiary hearing -- 

	

20 
	 MR. NEWELL: I see. 

	

21 
	 THE COURT: -- allowing the hearing as to 

	

22 	the Wall/Blaskey issues here. 

	

23 	 I realize there is many other issues the 

	

24 	defense wants an evidentiary hearing on. I'm not inclined 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 
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11 

	

1 	to do that as of now, but we're having argument here today 

	

2 	and you can tell me why you think I should. And then I will 

	

3 
	

hear from the State as well. 

	

4 
	 But I am inclined to give it to you at least 

	

5 	on those issues. 

	

6 	 MR. POTTER: Your Honor, I don't want to 

	

7 	jump in, but my experience is -- I've done a lot of these 

	

8 	cases over the years, and my experience has been that if we 

	

9 	Could make a prima facie showing, we're entitled to do 

	

10 	discovery in the case. 

	

11 	 Historically, writs of habeas corpus in 

	

12 	civil cases -- we all come from civil backgrounds in dealing 

	

13 	with that. 

	

14 	 what's important is that many of the 

	

15 	arguments that we've put forward, and there has been a lot 

	

16 	of investigation done, but without the formal discovery 

	

17 	available to the defendant in this action, we're really not 

	

18 	in a position to flesh out our allegation's and most of the 

	

19 	allegations of the writ. 

	

20 	 And so what I think is important is if we 

	

21 	make the prima facie showing, and that's really been the 

	

22 	custom and practice within this district, then we're allowed 

	

23 	to go into formal discovery. 

	

24 	 THE COURT: So the question is: Have you 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 

000907 



12 

	

I 	made a prima facie showing? 

	

2 	 MR. POTTER: Correct. 

	

3 	 THE COURT: I guess that's really the -- 

	

4 	because Mr. Simon is saying no, and I guess that's really 

	

5 	the issue we need to address. 

	

6 	 If I find that you have, then -- 

	

7 	 MR. POTTER: Right. 

	

8 	 THE COURT: Okay. Why don't we focus on 

	

9 	that. That may be the best way to deal with that on the 

	

10 	writ. 

	

11 	 Again, I'm kind of jumping all over the 

	

12 	place here, but I'm trying to see if we can do this in a 

	

13 	systematic manner. 

	

14 	 MR. NEWELL: Well, Your Honor, there are two 

	

15 	primary areas. I mean, there is a lot subsumed within that, 

	

16 	but there are two primary areas that I think we have more 

	

17 	than made a prima facie showing. One is ineffective 

	

18 	assistance of counsel. 

	

19 	 And if you look at Mr. Pike's affidavit, 

	

20 	essentially, he didn't do anything in the trial of this 

	

21 	case. He didn't do any investigation, other than talking to 

	

22 	the defendant's father. 

	

23 	 He didn't hire the experts. He didn't even 

	

24 
	ask for investigative funds. He didn't hire -- he didn't 

ACCUSCRIPTS (702) 391-0379 
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1 	ask for a continuance. 

	

2 	 He was appointed in early August. His 

	

3 	appointment was confirmed on August 7th, and the evidentiary 

	

4 	hearing commenced shortly thereafter and continued for about 

	

5 	three to four weeks, as I recall, and then trial commenced 

	

6 	immediately. 

	

7 	 And the four defendants were tried together; 

	

8 	motion to sever was denied. 

	

9 	 We contend, quite improperly, given the 

	

10 	evidence that came in -- 

	

11 	 THE COURT: Hasn't the Supreme Court really 

	

12 	dealt with all that previously? 

	

13 	 MR. NEWELL: Not in any significant way, no. 

	

14 	 THE COURT: Well, I mean, they've affirmed 

	

15 	the Judgment of Conviction. They allowed, what, I guess the 

	

16 	third -- up to three penalty phases, and then that's been 

	

17 	affirmed. 

So I mean, that's the law of the case 

certainly, as is Mr. Simon's primary argument, and it's 

generally -- I can't relitigate stuff that the Nevada 

Supreme Court has ruled upon. 

R. NEWELL: Well, but our point is that 

they haven't ruled on it because of the ineffective 

assistance of counsel. 
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I 	 For example -- and I will give you the most 

	

2 	dramatic one we have. 

	

3 	 THE COURT: Okay. 

	

4 	 MR. NEWELL: The affidavit of Robert Ramirez 

	

5 	says that Mr. Flanagan wasn't even involved in the crime. 

	

6 	That was available at the time of the first trial. It was 

	

7 	never discovered. Nobody ever talked to him. 

	

8 	 And that -- he has said that Mr. Flanagan 

	

9 	was present in the house, but trying to stop it. 

	

10 	 Now that's pretty dramatic evidence that 

	

11 	would give rise to -- I think in most people's minds -- a 

	

12 	reasonable doubt. Nobody heard about it. 

	

13 	 We don't know whether -- we know that Mr. 

	

14 	Ramirez talked to the police. None of that material was 

	

15 	turned over to the defense. 

	

16 	 So we've got a prima facie showing, both 

	

17 	from Mr. Ramirez, Miss Saldano -- let's see -- Mr. Lucas, of 

	

18 	things that were done and evidence that was withheld -- and 

	

19 	Mr. Whitaker as well -- was withheld from the defense. 

	

20 	 So we have clear Brady violations by the 

21 

22 

23 

24 

State. 

But we also submitted extensive material in 

our exhibits, from discovery taken in another case, showing 

how the police department and the D.A.'s office fragment 
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1 	1 	their records in lots of different places. 

	

2 
	 So until we get discovery on it, we don't 

	

3 	know the extent to which there were Brady violations 

	

4 	committed. 

	

5 
	 That's just one example on the -- that ties 

	

6 
	

ineffective assistance and the prosecutorial misconduct 

	

7 
	

together. 

	

8 	 And I'm not going to repeat everything in 

	

9 	the petition, but those are the primary areas where we think 

	

10 	discovery is not only appropriate, but crucial, to the 

	

11 	presentation of our case, because we don't -- I've talked to 

	

12 	some people who do this kind of thing on a regular basis, 

	

13 	and they've told me that it's very, very common for there to 

	

14 	be Brady violations that you don't find out about until 

	

15 	post-conviction. 

	

16 	 I mean, we think we've got prima facie 

2 

	

17 	evidence of that here that entitles us to full-blown 

	

18 	discovery that accompanies a civil case. 

	

19 	 Mr. Pike talks about some other issues, that 

	

20 	Mr. Potter is going to discuss, regarding Judge Mosley's 

	

21 	refusal to allow the defense to object in open court and not 

	

22 	ruling on those objections. 

	

23 	 He -- I mean, there is just a litany of 

	

24 	things that he didn't do in that first trial that goes not 
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1 	only to the penalty phase, but to the guilt phase as well. 

2 	 THE COURT: But hasn't that been litigated 

3 	through appeals to the Supreme Court? 

MR. NEWELL: No. This is the first time 

5 	ineffective assistance has been raised. 

6 	 And what the Supreme Court has said each 

7 	time is: Well, the evidence of guilt is overwhelming. 

8 	 Well, sure it is if you only pick certain 

9 	parts of the evidence that is available. It's when you get 

10 	the whole picture together to show ineffective assistance 

11 	that the previous rulings of the Supreme Court become 

12 	irrelevant, because they're based on a different record than 

13 	we would be able to present. 

14 	 THE COURT: I see. Okay. 

15 	 MR. NEWELL: So that's -- that's the first 

16 
	

issue. 

17 	 There are some legal issues that I think the 

18 	Court could address as well; and the first one that I will 

19 	point out is the so-called Caslin(ph) instruction, which is 

20 	addressed on pages 19 through 21 of our reply. 

21 	 As you probably know, the Nevada Supreme 

22 	Court on the Byford case recently held that the Caslin 

23 	instruction is improper. 

24 	 THE COURT: They didn't rule it was 
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2 
	

1 	discovery from the D.A.'s Office on the issues of training 

	

2 	and what their instructions are in cases like this. 

	

3 	 Because what happens is a vicious cycle, as 

	

4 	near as I can tell: This misconduct occurs; the Nevada 

	

5 	Supreme Court reviews it and says: Yes, it's misconduct, 

	

6 	but it's harmless error. 

	

7 	 And so no defendant can get a fair trial 

	

8 	against Mr. Seaton and Mr. Harmon, but they can't get a 

	

9 	reversal either. 

	

10 
	 And so until somebody takes a stand and 

	

1 1 
	says, wait a minute, you can't do that, there is no sanction 

	

12 
	

for their continuing it. 

	

13 
	 And our position is that we're entitled to 

	

14 
	discovery on those issues so that we can present a full 

	

15 
	evidentiary record to the Court on the extensive misconduct 

	

16 
	that occurred here. 

	

17 
	 We think that there are not only Brady 

	

18 
	violations, but Giglio violations, that were not addressed, 

	

19 
	either on the ineffective assistance side or on the 

	

20 
	misconduct side. And until we get that discovery, we can't 

	

21 
	present a full evidentiary record on it. 

	

22 
	 I can go through each one individually if 

	

23 
	you'd like, but that's sort of overall -- 

	

24 
	 THE COURT: Well, that's not -- I've read 
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1 	everything that you filed, so I understand the various 

2 	points like that. 

3 	 MR. NEWELL: Okay. In the -- I guess what I 

4 	would call attention to -- attention to, Your Honor, is the 

5 	motion for discovery where we lay out specifically what 

6 	we're after there. 

7 	 THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. 

8 	 Mr. Potter. 

9 	 MR. POTTER: Your Honor, I wanted to focus 

10 	on the argument dealing with Judge Mosley. 

11 	 As local counsel, in signing these pleadings 

12 	and being a part of it, I don't take the job lightly; and 

13 	what is really egregious here and I think really important 

14 	to focus upon is that when the Nevada Supreme Court looked 

15 	at this case, they weren't looking at the constitutional 

16 	arguments. Clearly, direct appeal did not raise issues 

3 
17 	dealing with constitutional issues. 

18 	 They're all intertwined with the right to 

19 	effective assistance of counsel. 

20 	 The procedure that Judge Mosley adopted here 

21 	is wholly irregular; acknowledged by the Court to be wholly 

22 	irregular. 

23 
	

But where it comes into play now is based 

24 
	upon an actual innocence argument or an actual withdrawal of 
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1 	a conspiracy. The Ramirez affidavit speaks volumes in terms 

	

2 	of law of the case in this particular manner. 

	

3 	 I have not found anyone, in looking at this 

	

4 	case and going over this case, attorney, judge, anywhere, 

	

5 	that can cite me to anything similar to what Judge Mosley 

	

6 	did in this case. 

	

7 	 And we all know that Judge Mosley is now an 

	

8 	experienced judge, but going back in time to the time of 

	

9 	this trial, I suspect, if given the opportunity, he would 

	

10 	not have handled a trial like this, civil or criminal, where 

	

11 	you do not do objections contemporaneous to the trial. 

	

12 	 What essentially is occurring is he's 

	

13 	saying: I'm not going to give this individual a fair trial. 

	

14 	I've already made my mind up. I've had evidentiary hearings 

	

15 	in the past and whatever you say and whatever you do has no 

	

16 	force or effect on me as the judge. 

	

17 	 The triers of fact, the jury, the ones who 

	

18 	are going to make this determination, aren't given the 

	

19 	opportunity to see what the true evidence should have been 

	

20 	under our rules of law. 

	

21 	 And because of that -- Mr. Pike, being a 

	

22 	very young attorney at that point in time, acquiesced to the 

	

23 	actions of the Court, when, in fact, he should have stood up 

	

24 	and objected, irregardless of what this judge was going to 
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3 
	

1 	do, because his duties were to the client, to protect his 

	

2 	rights, and he certainly did not do that. 

	

3 	 Those comments that are made by Judge 

	

4 	Mosley, when they're off the record, to the attorneys back 

	

5 	in chambers, are certainly not that of an experienced 

	

6 	jurist: Let's get back out there and get these guys 

	

7 	executed. 

	

8 	 Those are strong allegations and those are 

	

9 	allegations that I think we're entitled to investigate. We 

	

10 	should be given the opportunity to take the deposition of 

	

11 	this judge. He did remove himself from the case at a future 

	

12 	point in time. 

	

13 	 But I think what's really important here is 

	

14 	he did not get a fair trial based upon this judge's 

	

15 	procedure that is totally irregular, not -- not followed by 

	

16 	any other judge that I'm aware of anywhere in the United 

	

17 	States, nor would it be because it's -- it's -- it belies 

	

18 	any type of criminal procedure. 

	

19 	 And when he did this, I think what also 

	

20 	comes into play and what -- we've literally had people 

	

21 	calling us up, because of the other things that are going on 

	

22 	in this community, in this judicial community, concerning 

	

23 	allegations of Judge Mosley, volunteering to give us 

	

24 	information concerning his prejudice as to criminal 
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1 	defendants and, specifically, as to this case, 

	

2 	 I've never had that ever happen before. 

	

3 	 So I think we should be entitled to use the 

	

4 	discovery process to try and find out, one, because we -- we 

	

5 	can make the prima facie showing based upon the fact that he 

	

6 	allowed the State to make objections and make objections on 

	

7 	the record in front of the jury, but denied the defense to 

	

8 	do that; but, more importantly, denied the defendant the 

	

9 	right to be present when the objections were being made; 

	

10 	wholly irregular, wholly violating his constitutional 

	

11 	rights, as well as the statutory authority of this state. 

	

12 	 So what I'm asking for is the same 

	

13 	opportunity to do the deposition process, the discovery 

	

14 	process, on Judge Mosley. 

	

15 	 THE COURT: Thank you. 

	

16 	 Mr. Simon. 

	

17 	 MR. SIMON: Thank you, Your Honor. 

	

18 
	 THE COURT: If you want to sit down, you may 

	

19 
	

feel free to do so. 

	

20 
	 MR. SIMON: Well, actually, it's good for me 

	

21 
	to stand and walk as much as I can, but thank you. 

	

22 
	 THE COURT: Okay. 

	

23 
	 MR. SIMON: Both counsel have made 

	

29 
	references to this Ramirez statement, which is attached as 
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1 	an exhibit in Volume VII. 

2 	 I would -- it's Robert Ramirez. 

3 	 I would certainly invite the Court to read 

4 	Mr. Ramirez' statement. He wasn't present at the sce
ne of 

5 	the murder. 

6 	 He was associated with several of these 

7 	people that were involved. In his statement, he c
laims that 

8 	he had discussions with them after the fact. He clai
ms that 

9 	somebody else told him that Dale didn't do the m
urder. 

10 	 This is hearsay at best. It's directly 

4 
11 	contradictory to the testimony of John Lucas, Rusty 

Havens 

12 	and Angela Salaam°, all of whom testified at tr
ial as to 

13 	incriminating admissions that Dale Flanagan made. 

14 	 Dale Flanagan, according to Miss Saldano, 

15 	confessed the murder of his grandmother in the invol
vement 

16 	and the episode which also led to the murder of his 

17 	grandfather by one of his co-defendants. 

18 	 Now, counsel has also obtained statements by 

19 	these three people, all of which they've included in the 

20 	same volume, but when you read their statements, 
neither 

21 	Lucas, Havens, nor Saldano retracts the testimony they 
gave 

22 	at trial. 

23 
	 None of them say they committed perjury; 

24 
	none of them say they gave false evidence. 
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	1 	 They all try to gloss this over saying: 

	

2 	Well, Dale was really a pretty nice guy.
 He worked. He 

	

3 	wasn't as bad as the other guys. He took a lot o
f alcohol; 

	

4 	he took a lot of drugs. 

	

5 	 But none of these contradict the sworn 

	

6 	testimony they gave at trial: That Dale Fla
nagan made 

	

7 	admissions, including outright confessions to S
aldano, that: 

	

8 	 Yes, he did murder his grandmother. He did 

	

9 	participate in the crime in which his gran
dfather was 

	

10 	murdered by one of his co-defendants. 

11 	 As Your Honor observed, our Supreme Court 

	

12 	has repeatedly, strongly affirmed the con
viction as to the 

	

13 	guilt phase. 

	

19 
	 The first time it came before our Supreme 

	

15 
	Court, in 1988, which was reported at 104 Nevada, page 

	

16 
	105 -- I'm going to read to the Court from page 107 of tha

t 

	

17 
	opinion. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 	say: 

23 

24 

The Court states: When a guilty verdict is 

free from doubt, even aggravated prosecutorial 

remarks will not justify reversal. 

They give a couple citations and go on to 

Here, there was overwhelming evidence of 

Flanagan's involvement in the planning and 
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1 	 execution of the murder. 

	

2 	 The last time our Supreme Court considered 

	

3 	this case, which was in 1996, reported at 112 Neva
da, 

	

4 	beginning at page 1409, they similarly reaffi
rmed that 

	

5 	finding at page 1420 of that opinion, where t
hey state -- 

	

6 	and 1 read to the Court: 

	

7 	 We characterize the evidence against 

	

8 	 Flanagan and more as overwhelming in our first 

	

9 	 opinion in this case. There is no reason to change 

	

10 	 that characterization now. 

	

11 	 Under Strickland, which is the landmark case 

	

12 	considering effectiveness of counsel and pos
t-conviction 

	

13 	relief, there are two problems they must meet i
n order to 

	

14 	obtain a reversal of a conviction: 

	

15 	 They must not only show that counsel was 

	

16 	ineffective, they must also meet the second pr
ong, which is 

	

17 	prejudice. 

	

18 	 And in the Strickland case, the Supreme 

	

19 	Court of the United States holds that the Court may address 

	

20 	either of those two issues first; and if it fin
ds that they 

	

21 	have failed to meet either of those, that's all the
 further 

	

22 	the Court has to go; no relief is warranted. 

	

23 	 In this case, as far as the finding of guilt 

	

24 	goes, our Supreme Court has consistently and repeatedl
y 
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4 	1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

upheld the finding of guilt, in spite of the prosecutorial 

misconduct by Mr. Seaton, which Mr. Potter has addressed. 

Our Supreme Court is well aware that, in 

various cases, Mr. Seaton has been accused of and found to 

have committed prosecutorial misconduct, as he did in this 

case. That's the reason that the death penalty was reversed 

in the first case. 

However, our Supreme Court very clearly 

said Overwhelming evidence of guilt; no reversal of guilt. 

And they reaffirmed that the last time they 

heard this case. This case has been before them several 

times. They are very consistent -- been very consistent as 

this Court observes. That's the law of the case. 

There is no reason to revisit the guilt 

case -- I'm sorry -- the guilt phase of this case at this 

time. Indeed, I believe it would be improper to do so. 

We seem to be trying to attack Judge Mosley 

here, but I don't think that's appropriate or in order; and 

along -- in conjunction with that, I would like to make 

reference to their motion for discovery. 

Aside from the fact that it's premature at 

this point in time, it is very overbroad: Counsel and the 

Court are very experienced in civil law. I have some 

experience in civil law, but in order to obtain discovery, 
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4 	1 	not only does it have to be timely, but there has to be good 

	

2 	cause. 

	

3 	 This is one of the most overbroad requests 

	

4 	for discovery I have ever seen. And as an example of that, 

5 

	

5 	I would like to call the Court's attention, just as one 

	

6 	example, to Item Number 11. 

	

7 	 They want to take depositions of the present 

	

8 	and past justices of the Supreme Court of Nevada and its 

	

9 	staff. That's ridiculous, Your Honor. 

	

10 	 If the time comes when Your Honor feels that 

	

11 	discovery is appropriate, I would ask the court to go 

	

12 	through it item by item and only order discovery on those 

	

13 	specific issues where they have made a showing of good 

	

14 	cause. 

	

15 	 This is just a blatent fishing expedition. 

	

16 	 And that's -- that's all I have to submit to 

	

17 	the Court at this time, Your Honor. 

	

18 	 As Your Honor indicated, I agree that I 

	

19 	think an evidentiary hearing into the effectiveness of 

	

20 	counsel at the third penalty phase would be called for at 

	

21 	this time. I think we have to have that because of the 

	

22 	allegations they've set forth. 

	

23 	 THE COURT: What about the State's motion 

	

24 	for waiver of the attorney/client privilege, tying into 
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5 	1 	i 	that? 

2 
	 MR. SIMON: Yes, Your Honor. 

	

3 
	 would like to simply cite to the statute, 

	

4 
	which I cited in my Points and Authorities. 

	

5 
	 Nevada Revised Statute 34.735, subsection 

	

6 
	

(6) reads, in part -- and this is addressed to a person 

	

7 
	

filing a post-conviction relief petition: 

	

8 
	 If your petition contains a claim of 

	

9 
	 ineffective assistance of counsel, that claim will 

	

10 
	 operate to waive the attorney/client privilege for 

11 
	 the proceedings in which you claim your counsel was 

	

12 
	 ineffective. 

	

13 
	 Very clear, very straightforward: They have 

	

14 
	alleged ineffectiveness of counsel; pursuant to the statute 

	

15 
	they have waived the privilege and I would ask the Court to 

	

16 	so find. 

	

17 	 THE COURT: Thank you. 

	

18 	 Mr. Newell. 

	

19 	 MR. NEWELL: Thank you, Your Honor. 

	

20 	 Let me take these in order. 

	

21 	 The problem with Mr. Simon's argument that 

	

22 	the Ramirez affidavit is hearsay is that this was a 

	

23 	conspiracy case and what he heard was directly from one of 

	

24 	the defendants, one of the co-conspirators. 
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just is pervasive. 

On the Strickland issue, again, the Ramirez 

affidavit alone -- I mean, there were many, many examples of 

this, but the Ramirez affidavit alone provides the 

satisfaction of the second prong that Mr. Simon talks about. 

There is no question, I think, that Mr. Pike 

was ineffective. He admits it. The facts that he lays out 

make it very clear, under prevailing law: Failure to do 

investigation, failure to talk to the State's witnesses, on 

and on and on and on, constitutes, in case after case, 

ineffective assistance. 

And the fact that he didn't talk to Mr. 

Ramirez, who was readily available at the time, shows -- 

meets that second prong of the Strickland test, to show that 

it would have made a difference in the trial and it makes 

the verdict unreliable. 

So we've made the prima facie showing that 

is necessary under Strickland, and I think the Court should 

so order. 

The -- on the waiver of attorney/client 

privilege, I trust the Court has read our memorandum in 

opposition to that. 

THE COURT: Yes. 

MR. NEWELL: I think the problem with the 
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1 	State's position on that is that there has been nothing 

	

2 	submitted to this Court that constitutes a confidential 

	

3 	communication between attorneys and the client. 

	

4 	 What it talks about -- what the Blaskey 

	

5 	affidavit talks about is the conduct of the Public 

	

6 	Defender's Office, lack of resources, conduct of counsel, 

	

7 	what they did, what they didn't do. 

6 

	

8 	 All of that can be addressed without any 

	

9 	waiver of the privilege. 

	

10 	 The problem with the State's position is 

	

11 	that the statement about waiver is contained in the 

	

12 	instructions for a form that's printed in the statute for a 

	

13 	pro se defendant to file a writ -- a petition for writ of 

	

14 	habeas corpus. 

	

15 
	 To my knowledge, that issue has not been 

	

16 
	

litigated. 	-- I couldn't find any case law on it in 

	

17 
	

Nevada. 

	

18 	 The -- there is case law though that says if 

	

19 	you waive your privilege, it's waived for all purposes. 

	

20 	 And when you start down that road, you can 

	

21 	see that if you had a situation, like we contend this case 

	

22 	is, where there was clearly an unconstitutional trial 

	

23 	conducted, where there be no question the defendant would be 

	

24 	entitled to a new trial, the State comes in in 
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1 	post-conviction and says: You've waived the privi
lege. We 

	

2 	get to go in and ask you everything you told your -
- your 

	

3 	lawyer -- he's, in effect, lost his right to cou
nsel; he's 

	

4 	lost his right to -- his Fifth Amendment right
 of self 

	

5 	incrimination, against self-incrimination; and a
ll the 

	

6 	constitutional protections that he might have are
 gone in a 

	

7 	subsequent trial. 

	

8 	 So, logically and constitutionally, it 

	

9 	simply doesn't make sense. 

	

10 	 I think, again, addressing this on a 

	

11 	practical basis, by having Mr. Wall provide
 a deposition, we 

	

12 	can address all of the issues that are rais
ed. 

	

13 	 Number one: When was he appointed? How 

	

14 	much time did he put in on the case? Did
 he ever go to the 

	

15 	prison to speak with the client? What di
d he turn over to 

	

16 	the psychologist to examine Mr. Flanagan
? Did he overrule 

	

17 	Miss Blaskey's request for a motion for contin
uance? 

	

18 	 On and on and on. 

	

19 	 None of those have to do with communication 

	

20 	with Mr. Flanagan. 

	

21 	 So, in that sense, we're not opposing the -- 

	

22 	the thrust of what Mr. Simon is asking for. W
e think that 

	

23 	can be done. 

	

24 
	 But we are asking that it be done in a very 
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1 	controlled fashion, so that communications with Mr. - - 

	

2 	between Mr. Flanagan and his counsel are not invaded. 

	

3 	 THE COURT: Okay. Thank you. 

	

4 	 Okay. Well, here's -- I'll go through 

	

5 	these -- I'll kind of jump around. I'm not trying to do 

	

6 	them in order -- so that we have some sort of logical 

	

7 	sequence on what we're going to do. 

	

8 	 I'm going to start with the State's motion 

	

9 	for waiver of attorney/client privilege: That motion is 

	

10 	denied without prejudice, in that I'm going to allow, as Mr. 

	

11 	Newell has said, that perhaps that information can be 

	

12 	inquired and tailored in such a way at the hearing that it 

	

13 	would not require the attorney/client privilege to be 

	

14 	invaded. 

	

15 
	 However, Mr. Newell, I'm going to advise you 

	

16 
	and Mr. Potter that it's without prejudice because if I find 

	

17 
	

that it does and then the defense puts that at issue, then 

	

18 
	

Mr. Simon, I believe, is correct under N.R.S. 34.735, 

	

19 
	

subsection (6), we will need to go into it. 

	

20 
	

It's one of those open the door issues, so 

	

21 
	you can decide if you want to tailor it to your argument -- 

	

22 
	

I think I know where you are going with your argument, but I 

	

23 
	

think there is a way you can present it without putting that 

	

24 
	at issue. 
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6 
	

1 	Miss Blaskey has raised -- and I don't remember, Mr. 

	

2 	Newell -- there is 30 some odd claims. I don't remember 

	

3 	which claim that is with Mr. Wall and Miss Blaskey. 

	

4 	 Do you remember which one that was? 

	

5 	 R. NEWELL: Well, it's covered in the 

	

6 
	

fourth claim. 
7 

	

7 	 THE COURT: Okay. I want to make sure any 

	

8 	claims that that's -- it's covered in, that I'm going to -- 

	

9 	I'm going to defer ruling on that until we have the 

	

10 	evidentiary hearing and all. 

	

11 	 So I'll say any claims, rather than -- 

	

12 	rather than -- paraphrasing it by way of claims, you've 

	

13 	identified them -- any claims asserted by Miss Blaskey 

	

14 	regarding the conduct of the case and involving Mr. Wall and 

	

15 	all, I'm not going to rule on that. 

	

16 	 That will be part of the evidentiary 

	

17 	hearing; and we'll hear the evidence, and then we'll make a 

	

18 	determination on that as to the defendant's petition for 

	

19 	writ of habeas corpus. 

	

20 	 As to the remaining issues here, that is, 

	

21 	issues -- and, again, I'm going to try -- I know there is a 

	

22 	lot of material covered here. 

	

23 	 The ineffective assistance of counsel 

	

24 	argument as to Mr. Pike, that is denied, in that under 
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7 
	

1 	Strickland versus Washington, 466 United States 668, 

	

2 	although Mr. Potter, perhaps, as trial counsel would have a 

	

3 	different strategy than Mr. Pike employed, the Court finds 

	

4 
	

that his representation was not ineffective, and based upon 

	

5 
	

the subsequent case law, it's been developed after the 

	

6 
	

Strickland case. 

	

7 	 Secondly, as far as the issue, the Court 

	

8 	finds that there is just bare allegations as far as the 

	

9 	failure to disclose exculpatory evidence; and for that 

	

10 	reason, the motion is denied. 

	

11 	 Also, as to prosecutorial misconduct, I 

	

12 	mean, that issue was addressed by the Supreme Court as part 

	

13 	of the law of the case as to Mr. Seaton's actions here. 

	

14 	 Again, since the Court has ordered -- the 

	

15 	Supreme Court has ordered previous penalty phases, in this 

	

16 	case, three penalty phases, I think that moots many of these 

	

17 	issues. 

	

18 	 The Court finds the remaining allegations in 

	

19 	the petition are bare allegations made by the defendant and 

	

20 	are barred by the law of the case of the previous direct 

	

21 	appeals to the Nevada Supreme Court. 

	

22 	 So we'll just go ahead with the issues then 

	

23 	as to Miss Blaskey and Mr. Wall and deal with that in an 

	

24 	evidentiary hearing. 
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1 	 Mr. Newell, I know you are coming in from 

2 	out state, so I will try to schedule that in such a way that 

3 	it's convenient for you as well. 

4 	 Maybe we can go off the record and kind of 

5 	discuss that and then go back on the record. 

6 	 MR. SIMON: I think we ought to put it out 

7 	far enough, Your Honor -- 

8 	 THE COURT: You want to go off, Mr. Simon? 

9 	 MR. SIMON: Yeah, please. 

10 	 THE COURT: We'll make a record -- because 

11 	of the -- it's a death penalty case, we will make a record 

12 	afterwards, so there is a complete record for appellate 

13 	purposes. 

14 
	 Okay. Let's go off the record. 

15 

16 
	 (Off the record discussion.) 

17 

18 	 THE COURT: We are back on the record. 

19 	 There has been a discussion off the record 

20 	regarding scheduling a status check regarding discovery that 

21 	has to be done pertaining to the evidentiary hearing; and 

22 	that we'll waive Mr. Newell's appearance at that status 

23 	check. Mr. Potter will make the appearance as local 

24 	counsel. 
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5 

We'll set that for status check in 

approximately one month, Cheryl. 

THE CLERK: September 13th at nine a.m. 

THE COURT: Okay. So that will be a status 

check. 

7 	1 

2 

3 

6 	 And then we'll go ahead -- at that time, Mr. 

7 	Simon, we'll find out where we're at with discovery and 

8 	perhaps see if we could arrange a date for the evidentiary 

9 	hearing. 

10 
	 Again, I've advised counsel I would probably 

11 
	

like to do it on a Friday. I will try and do it to 

12 
	accommodate Mr. Newell's schedule. 

13 
	 Do we need Mr. Flanagan transported for 

14 
	this? Is this a right of confrontation issue here? 

15 
	 MR. SIMON: Yeah. Normally, we would for an 

16 
	evidentiary hearing, Your Honor. 

17 
	 THE COURT: Okay. 

18 
	 MR. SIMON: And the State will certainly be 

19 
	

happy to prepare an order to transport once we have a date. 

20 
	 THE COURT: Once we set the date, the Court 

21 
	will order Mr. Flanagan to be transported'-- is he in Carson 

22 
	

City then right now? 

23 
	

MR. NEWELL: Ely. 

24 
	 THE COURT: Ely. Okay. 
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DATE OF HEARING: 2-14-02 
TIME OF HEARING; 9:30 A.M. 

THIS CAUSE having come on for hearing before the Honorable Mark Gibbons, District 

Judge, on the 14th day of February, 2002, the Petitioner not being present, represented by 

ROBERT NEWELL, ESQ. & CAL J. POTTER, III, ESQ., the Respondent being represented 

by STEWART L. BELL, District Attorney, by and through H. LEON SIMON, Deputy District 

Attorney, and the Court having considered the matter, including briefs, transcripts, arguments 

of counsel, and documents on file herein, now therefore, the Court makes the following findings 

of fact and conclusions of law: 

HMV QS OF FACT 

I. Dale Flanagan, hereinafter Defendant, was charged by Information with two counts of 

First Degree Murder With Use of a Deadly Weapon; two counts of Conspiracy to Commit 

Murder; one count of Burglary; one count of Conspiracy to Commit Burglary; one count of 

Robbery With Use of a Deadly Weapon; and one count of Conspiracy to Commit Robbery. 
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1 2. 	In September, 1985, Defendant's jury trial began before the Honorable Donald M. 

2 Mosley, District Judge in the Eight Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada. At the 

3 conclusion of the trial, the jury found Defendant guilty on all counts. 

	

4 3. 	Following a penalty hearing, the jury returned a sentence of death against Defendant for 

5 each of the two convictions for murder. 

	

6 4. 	Defendant was sentenced on November 27, 1985 to: 

7 Count I (Conspiracy to Commit Burglary) - one (1) year in the Clark County Jail; 

8 Count 11 (Conspiracy to Commit Robbery)- six (6) years in the Nevada State Prison; 

9 Count III (Conspiracy to Commit Murder)- six (6) years in the Nevada State Prison; 

10 Count IV (Burglary)- ten (10) years in the Nevada State Prison; 

11 Count V (Robbery)- fifteen (15) years in the Nevada State Prison and an equal and consecutive 

12 sentence of fifteen (15) years for the deadly weapon enhancement; 

13 Count VI (First Degree Murder)- death by lethal injection and an equal and consecutive sentence 

14 of death for the deadly weapon enhancegient; 

15 Count VII (First Degree Murder)- death .  by lethal injection and an equal and consecutive 

16 sentence of death for the deadly weapon enhancement. 

17 The District Court ordered Counts!! through VII to be served consecutively to one another and 

18 to Count I. Defendant was given three hundred and one (301) days credit for time served. 

	

19 5. 	Defendant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on December 19, 1985. 

	

20 6. 	On May 18, 1988, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Defendant's conviction but 

21 reversed the sentence of death and remanded the case to the District Court based on prosecutorial 

22 misconduct during the penalty hearing. See Flanagan y. State, 104 Nev. 105, 754 P.2d 836 

23 (1988) (Flanagan I). 

	

24 7. 	Upon remand, a second penalty heating was conducted and Defendant was once again 

25 sentenced to death by a jury. Defendant timely appealed his second death sentence to the 

26 Nevada Supreme Court. 

	

27 8. 	The Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the death sentence imposed in the second penalty 

28 hearing, See Flanagan v. State,  107 Nev. 243, 810 P.2d 759 (1991) (Flanagan II). 
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I 9. 	Defendant petitioned the United States Supreme Court with a writ of certiorari which the 

2 Supreme Court granted. The Supreme Court vacated Defendant's death sentence and remanded 

3 the case to the Nevada Supreme Court for further consideration in light of Dawson v,Dekairev , 

4 503 U.S, 159, 112 S.Ct. 1093 (1992). 

	

5 10. 	On remand, the Nevada Supreme Court held that the State had impermissibly offered 

6 evidence of Defendant's involvement in satanic worship during his second penalty hearing in 

7 violation the First Amendment. Ss& Flanagan v. State, 109 Nev. 50, 846 Pld 1053 (1993) 

8 (Flanagan III). The Nevada Supreme COurt remanded the case for a third penalty hearing. 

	

9 11. 	After the third penalty hearing, a jury once again sentenced Defendant to death. 

	

10 12. 	Defendant file a timely Notice of Appeal from the third death sentence. 

	

11 13. 	On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the death sentence. Eel Flanagan v, 

12 State, 112 Nev. 1409, 930 P.2d 691 (1996) (Flanagan IV). 

	

13 14. 	Defendant filed a Petition for a writ of certiorari to the United State's Supreme Court 

14 which was denied. Ste Elanagan_L-atatt, 523 U.S. 1083, 118 &Ct. 1534 (1998). 

	

15 15. 	On May 28, 1998, Defendant filed the instant Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post- 

16 conviction). 

	

17 16. 	In his petition, Defendant made thirty-six claims in support of his request for relief from 

18 his conviction and sentence. 

	

19 17. 	The following claims raised in Defendant's petition were previously addressed by the 

20 Nevada Supreme Court in one of Defendant's direct appeals and are barred by the law of the 

21 case: 1) Claim (a) • allegation that the State coached its witnesses, 2) Claim I (d) - the alleged 

22 prosecutorial misconduct during trial, 3) Claim HI- the introduction of witchcraft evidence 

23 during trial, 4) Claim IV (a)' the court-designed exercise of peremptory challenges, 5) Claim IV 

24 (a) the adequateness of the jury instruction regarding greater risk, 6) Claim IV (a) the necessity 

25 of jury instruction requiring a nexus between robbery and burglary, 7) Claim XII - the validity 

26 of the jury instructions dealing with "equal and exact justice" and "guilt or innocence of another 

27 

28 
	

Defendant sets forth several claims each within IV (a) and IV (c). 
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4.1 

1 person", 8)Claim XIII- the lack of eviderice to find Defendant guilty of the aggravator "creating 

2 a greater risk of death", 9) Claim XV- that there was insufficient evidence to support the 

3 aggravator "murder in the commission of robbery", 10) Claim XVII- that the District Court 

4 improperly gave the anti-sympathy jury instruction, 11) Claim XXIX- the District Court's 

5 joinder of Defendant's case with his co-defendants, and 12) Claim XXXVI- that Defendant's 

6 lengthy confinement prior to the imposition of the death penalty constituted cruel and unusual 

7 punishment. 

8 18. 	The following claims raised in Defendant's petition are naked allegations unsubstantiated 

9 by facts: 1) Claim II - the allegation that the State shaped witnesses' testimony with offers of 

10 leniency, 2) Claim IV (a) the allegation that Defendant's attorney failed to investigate, the 

11 allegation that Defendant had diminished capacity at the time of the crime, the allegation that 

12 Defendant was incompetent to stand trial due to his medication, the allegation that Defendant's 

13 attorney should have requested investigative finds, the allegation that Defendant's attorney did 

14 not cross-examine Wittig effectively, 3) Claim IV (c) the allegation that the Public Defender's 

15 office lacked the resources to prepare for the third penalty hearing, 4) Claim VII - the allegation 

16 that the jury selection process in Clark County is prejudicial, 5) Claim a - the allegation that 

17 bench conferences impaired Defendant's ability to prepare a defense, 6) Claim XI - the 

18 allegation that the Nevada Supreme Court's decisions on death penalty cases are arbitrary, 7) 

19 Claim XX - the allegation that the judges who presided over Defendant's trial and three penalty 

20 hearings were not impartial, 8) Claim XXIII - the allegation that Defendant was not present 

21 during important court appearances, and 9) Claim X.XXI - the allegation that jurors saw 

22 Defendant in shackles. 

23 19. The following claims raised by Defendant are belied by the record: 1) Claim IV (a) - the 

24 allegation that Defendant's attorney did not thoroughly cross-examine the witnesses, 2) Claim 

25 V - the allegation that Defendant was incimpetent to stand trial due to his medication 3) Claim 

26 VI - the allegation that Defendant's attorney failed to request a change of venue, 4) Claim XXII 

27 - the allegation that the Information did not appraise Defendant of the charges against him, and 

28 5) Claim XXIV - the allegation that no record was made of any of the conferences at the bench. 
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1 20. The following claims raised by Defendant are moot because Defendant received a third 

2 penalty hearing: 1) Claim I (c) - the allegation that the State exercised its peremptory challenges 

3 in a discriminatory manner during the second penalty hearing, 2) Claim IV (a) the allegation that 

4 Defendant's attorney did not conduct an adequate investigation of mitigation evidence for the 

5 second penalty hearing, 3) Claim IV (b) - the allegations that Defendant's attorney was 

6 ineffective during the second penalty hepring, 4) Claim XVIII - the allegation that the District 

7 Court forced Defendant to use a peremptory challenge during the second penalty hearing, 5) 

8 Claim XIX - the allegation that the District Cowl improperly removed a juror during the second 

9 penalty hearing, and 6) Claim XXXII! - the allegation that Defendant's attorney failed to 

10 challenge some jurors for cause during the second penalty hearing. 

	

11 21. 	Defendant failed to demonstrate how the following claims prejudiced him as required by 

12 Strick(azi:  1) Claim IV (c) the fact that Defendant's attorney's turned over raw data from 

13 Defendant's mental health examination, the consolidation of Defendant's case with his co- 

14 defendant's case, 2) Claim WTI- the allegation that Defendant MS forced to exercise peremptory 

15 challenges in conkmction with his co-defendants, 3) Claim X - the allegation that Defendant's 

16 appellate attorney did not raise every issue in Defendant's petition on direct appeal, and 4) Claim 

17 XXXIII- the allegation that Defendant's attorney did not challenge certain jurors for cause. 

	

18 22. 	The following claims made by, Defendant in his petition are contrary to established 
• 

19 Nevada law: 1) Claim XII - that the jury instructions dealing with premeditation/deliberation and 

20 reasonable doubt were improper, 2) Claim XIV - that there was insufficient evidence to support 

21 the jury's finding of the aggravator "murder in commission of burglary", 3) Claim XVI - that the 

22 State improperly used the same facts to convict Defendant of felony murder and an aggravator, 

23 4) Claim XVII - that the anti-sympathy instruction was improperly given, that the State 

24 improperly failed to instruct the jury on unanimity of aggravators, that the State improperly 

25 failed to instruct the jury there is no requirement to impose the death penalty, and that the 

26 commutation instruction was improper, 5) Claim XXI - that the death penalty in Nevada is 

27 arbitrary, 6) Claims XXVI & XXVII- thatt  the death penalty statute in Nevada violates the Eighth 

28 Amendment, and 7) Claim XX.X - that the death penalty statute in Nevada does not provide for 
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1 clemency. 

2 23. The following claims raised by Defendant are inappropriate for a petition and should have 

3 been raised on direct appeal: 1) Claims XIV & XV - that the aggravators were applied 

4 incorrectly in Defendant's case, 2) Claim XVI - that the State improperly used the same facts to 

5 convict Defendant of felony murder and prove an aggravator, 3) Claim XVII - that the jury 

6 instructions regarding anti-sympathy, unanimity of aggravators, commutation and no 

7 requirement to impose the death penalty were not correctly given, 4) Claim XXI - that the death 

8 penalty in Nevada is arbitrary, 5) Claims XXVI 84 >CXVII - that the death penalty violates the 

9 Eighth Amendment, 6) Claim XXX - that the Nevada death penalty statute does not provide for 

10 clemency, and 7) Claim XXX11- that because Nevada judges are elected they are not impartial. 

	

11 24. 	Defendant's allegation that the State withheld exculpatory evidence including 

12 Defendant's will and his involvement in a group to discourage youth from participation in 

13 witchcraft does not amount to a Dra0 v. Malyland  violation as both pieces of evidence were 

14 known to Defendant. (Claim (la)) 

	

15 25. 	Since none of Defendant's individual Claims have merit, all of them taken together do not 

16 warrant relief(Claim XXV) 

	

17 26. 	Defendant's claim (Claim XXVIII) in his petition that he may become incompetent to be 

18 executed is prematurely raised. 

19 27. The Supreme Court of Nevada has rejected the contention set forth in Defendant's claims 

20 XXXIV and XXXV that Nevada's death penalty is unlawful because of International law. 

	

21 28. 	On August 16, 2000, this Court diuèd Defendant's petition as to all of the issues except 

22 for those relating to ineffectiveness of counsel arising from lack of communication between 

23 Rebecca Blaskey and David Wall, Defendant's attorneys during his third penalty hearing. (Claim 

24 IV (c)). 

	

25 29. 	This Court held an evidentiary hearing on February 14, 2002, to address Defendant's one 

26 remaining claim of ineffective assistance of counsel caused by lack of communication between 

27 Rebecca Blaskey and David Wall. On June 19, 2002, this Court issued an order denying 

28 Defendant's remaining claim. This Court ruled that Defendant had failed to demonstrate that the 
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11 personality conflict and lack of communication between Rebecca Blaskey and David Wall rose 

to the level of ineffective assistance of counsel as required by Strickland;  that ruling is 

incorporated herein. (See Exhibit One). 

30. 	Defendant received effective assistance of trial counsel and appellate counsel. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW  

1, 	The Supreme Court has clearly established the appropriate test for determining whether 

a defendant received constitutionally defective counsel. To demonstrate ineffective assistance 

811 of counsel, a convicted defendant must show both that his counsel's performance was deficient, 

9 and that the deficient performance prejudiced his defense. Strickland v. Washington,  566 U.S. 

10 668, 687, 104 S.Ct, 2052, 2064 (1984). 

11 2. 	The Nevada Supreme Court has adopted this test articulated by the Supreme Court. 

12 Bennett v. State,  111 Nev. 1099, 1108, 901 Pld 676, 682 (1995). 

13 3. 	Counsel's performance is deficient where counsel made errors so serious that the 

14 adversarial process cannot be relied on as,having produced a just result. Strickland,  at 686. The 

15 proper standard for evaluating an attorney's performance is that of "reasonable effective 

16 assistance." Strickland,  at 687. This evaluation is to be done in light of all the circumstances 

17 surrounding the nial, J. 	
. 1 11  1 

18 4. 	The Supreme Court has created a 'strong presumption that defense counsel's actions are 

19 reasonably effective: 

21 	 conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at 

22 	 counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable 

23 

20 	 Every effort [must be made) .  to eliminate the distorting effects of 

professional assistance. 

hindsight to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged 

the time. 	.A court must indulge a strong presumption that 

24 azickland, at 689-690. 

25 5. 	"[S)trategic choices made by counsel after thoroughly investigating the plausible options 

26 are almost unchallengeable." Dawson y State,  108 Nev. 112, 117, 825 P,2d 593, 596 (1992). 

27 6. 	Reasonable assistance of counsel does not require that defense counsel make every 

28 conceivable motion no matter bow remote the possibilities are of success in order to protect 
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• 
himself against allegations of inadequacy. Donovan, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 

2 (1978). 

	

3 7. 	The Nevada Supreme Court has held that it is presumed counsel fully discharged his 

4 duties, and said presumption can only be overcome by strong and convincing proof to the 

5 contrary. Ponovan_y,State,  94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978) 

	

6 8. 	It is not enough for a defendant to show deficient performance on the part of counsel, a 

7 defendant must also demonstrate that the deficient performance prejudiced the outcome of his 

8 case. Strickland v. Washington,  566 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2065 (1984). 

	

9 9. 	In meeting the prejudice requirement of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a 

10 defendant must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial 

11 would have been different. MeNelton v. latate,  115 Nev, 396, 401, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999); 

12 citing allicklak, 566 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2066 (1984). "A reasonable probability 

13 is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Li citing strickland,  466 

14 U.S. at 687-89, 694. 

	

15 10. 	This same standard of review applies to claims of ineffective assistance of appellate 

16 counsel. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688 41k 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2065 & 2068; Williams v, 

17 Collins,  16 F,3d 626, 635 (5th Cir. 1994); Hollenback v. United States,  987 F.2d 1272, 1275 (7th 

18 Cir. 1993); Beath v. Jones,  941 F.2d 1126, 1130 (11th Cir. 1991). 

	

19 11. 	The Nevada Supreme Court has held that all appeals must be "pursued in a manner 

20 meeting high standards of diligence, professionalism and competence." Blirkt_y.atatc, 110 Nev, 

21 1366, 1368, 887 P.2d 267, 268 (1994), 

	

22 12. 	In order to prove that appellate counsel's alleged error was prejudicial, the defendant must 

23 show that the omitted issue would have hati a reasonable probability of success on appeal. See 

24 Duhamel v. Collins,  955 1.2d 962, 967 (5th Cir. 1992); Heath,  941 F.2d at 1132. 

25 13. 	Counsel is not required to assert frivolous claims on appeal. A defendant does not have 

26 the constitutional right to "compel appointed counsel to press non frivolous points requested by 

27 the client, if counsel, as a matter of professional judgment, decides not to present those points." 

28 Id. 
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• 
14. The Supreme Court has recognized the importance of winnowing out weaker arguments 

2 on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most, on a few key issues." Jones 

3 v. Barnes,  463 U.S. 745, 751-52, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 3313 (1983). In particular, a "brief that raises 

4 every colorable issue runs the risk of burying the good arguments .., in a verbal mound made up 

5 of strong and weak contentions." W. at 753', 3313. The Court has, therefore, held that for judges 

6 to second guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to 

7 raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and 

8 effective advocacy. 	at 754, 3314. 

	

9 15. 	The law of a first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the 

10 facts are substantially the same. Ball v. State,  91 Nev. 314, 535 P.2c1797 (1975). Defendant's 

11 assertion that the State committed prosecutorial misconduct when it coached, coerced and 

12 intimidated various witnesses while also proffering false and prejudicial testimony before the 

13 District Court is barred by the law of the case doctrine, Upon review of Defendant's trial and 

14 initial penalty hearing, the Nevada Supreine Court ruled that, based on overwhelming evidence, 

15 
 

the prosecutor's conduct did not render Defendant's trial fundamentally unfair. Flanagan L 104 

16 Nev. at 107. Subsequent appeals regarding further alleged prosecutorial misconduct were 

17 I summarily rejected by the Nevada SuP4me Court under the "law of the case" doctrine as set 

18 I forth in Ball v. State,  91 Nev. 314, 315-16, 535 P.2d 797 (1975). See Flanagan IV,  112 Ncv. 

19 at 1422. Thus, Defendant is barred from raising these issues. 

	

20 16. 	Defendant's claim that the State withheld substantial amounts of exculpatory, 

21 impeachment and mitigation evidence including Defendant's will and his planned involvement 

22 in a group to discourage youth from participation in witchcraft is not a Brady  violation because 

23 both were known to Defendant. actsix_tlazyland, 373 U.S. 220, 83 S.Ct. 1194 (1963). 

	

24 17. 	The Supreme Court has ruled that the use of peremptory challenges is limited by the 

25 Equal Protection Clause. Batson v. Keitacky,  476 U.S. 79, 89, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 1719 (1985). A 

26 potential juror may not be removed solely on the basis of race or gender. See Libby v. State,  115 

27 Nev. 45, 49, 975 P.2d 833, 835 (1999); King v. Slate.  116 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 38,998 P.2d 1172, 

28 1175 (2000), 
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18. As long as a peremptory challenge complies with the requirements of the Equal Protection 

2 Clause, "a prosecutor ordinarily is entitled to exercise permitted peremptory challenges 'for any 

3 reason at all, as long as that reason is related to his view concerning the outcome' of the case." 

4 Batson %Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 89, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 1719 (1985). Defendant's contention that 

5 the State utilized their peremptory challenges in a racially discriminatory manner during the 

6 second penalty hearing is a naked allegation unsupported by any specific facts. Hargrove v.  
• I 

7 Sittte, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P,2d 222, 225 (1984). 

	

8 19. 	Defendant's claim that the State sought to introduce evidence at trial of Defendant's 

9 involvement in witchcraft and satanic worship is belied by the record, flargreye, at 503. The 

Ho record of Nevada Supreme Court deciSiOns in Defendant's case shows that a co-defendant 

11 actually introduced said satanic evidence. The Nevada Supreme Court found that counsel for 

12 co-defendant, Johnny Ray Luckett, called a witness in Luckett's defense to testify regarding 

13 Defendant's involvement in witchcraft/satanic worship. Flanagan LV, 112 Nev. at 1412. 

14 20. The Nevada Supreme Court addressed the State's use of evidence regarding satanic 

15 worship during the penalty hearings. &e, Flanagan IL Flanagan ILL Flanagan IV. Therefore, the 

16 law of the case doctrine would necessarily preclude any further review. Hall Y. State, 91 Nev. 

17 314, 315-16, 535 P.2d 797 (1975). 

	

18 21, 	A defendant seeking post-conviction relief is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing based 

19 on naked allegations. Hargrove, at 53. Defendant's allegation that the State unlawfully 

20 induced witnesses to testify and fashioned their testimony by offering leniency is a naked 

21 allegation. Id. Defendant fails to offer any specific facts to support such allegations other than 

22 information that was presented to thejiiry during the trial. Each witness was thoroughly 

23 questioned about the inducements they received or were to receive upon completion of their 

24 testimony. (31 Record on Appeal (RA) 944, 948; 33 RA 1242, 1256, 1258, 1275, 1280, 1287, 

25 1289, 1366; 34 RA 1400,1405, 1411).' 

26 

27 

28 
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22. In Shetiff.Y.AtumboL.C.Ounly, 107 Nev. 664, 819 F.2d 1.97 (1991), the Nevada Supreme 

2 Court plainly ruled that any inducement for testimony merely affects the weight of that 

3 testimony, but does not preclude its introduction in evidence. acealso Leslie v. State, 114 Nev. 

4 8, 952 P.2d 966 (1998). It is the jury's "function, not the reviewing court, to assess the weight 

5 of the evidence and determine the credibility of witnesses. Walker v.,State, 91 Nev. 724, 726, 

6 542 P.2d 438, 438-39 (1975). 

	

7 23. 	Defendant's assertion that the State impermissibly used evidence of his affiliation with 

8 witchcraft and satanic worship in violation of his Constitutional rights disregards the doctrine 

9 of "law of the case" as this issue has already been reviewed and decided by the Nevada Supreme 

10 Court. See Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 535 P.2d 797 (1975). After the United States Supreme 

11 Court reviewed and remanded his case, the Nevada Supreme Court also remanded Defendant's 

12 case for a new penalty hearing because the State had improperly argued evidence of Defendant's 

13 religious beliefs in satanic worship during the second penalty hearing. Flansigan LII, 109 Nev. 

14 at 55-57. Further, the Court ruled, in Flanagan IV. that a harmless error analysis was appropriate 

15 when considering the admission of such tvidence during the trial because of the overwhelming 

16 evidence against Defendant. Flanagan IV, at 1418-1421. Thus, Defendant is precluded from 

17 raising this issue based on the law of the case. 

	

18 24. 	Defendant's allegation that his attorney was ineffective during trial because he failed to 

19 conduct any investigation to prepare for trial is a naked allegation and is belied by the record. 

20 Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984). During cross-examination, Defendant's 

21 attorney competently highlighted the inconsistencies surrounding the testimony of State 

22 witnesses. (33 RA 1121,1249-50, 1255; 34 RA 1399-1400, 1403-1404, 1407-1410). 

	

23 25. 	Defendant's allegations surrounding his attorney's preparation for the first penalty 

24 hearing are moot as Defendant was granted a new penalty hearing by the Nevada Supreme Court. 

25 See Flanagan I. 

	

26 26. 	Defendant's contention that his attorney was ineffective for not investigating or 

27 presenting a defense based on diminished capacity is without merit. Defendant's claim that he 

28 participated in a three-day drug and alcohol binge immediately preceding the crimes is a naked 
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allegation. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984). Without an affidavit or any 

other specific offer of proof, this allegation does not demonstrate that Defendant's attorney was 

ineffective. 

27. Defendant's allegation that his attorney neglected to conduct any investigation into the 

details of the crime itself is a naked allegation. Hargroye_y_Slete, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 

(1984). Defendant fails to indicate what inconsistencies existed between the testimony and 

physical evidence. Further, as the Nevada Supreme Court found the evidence against Defendant 

was overwhelming, he fails to demonstrate that these inconsistences prejudiced him as required 

by Steickland t, Washington, 566 U.S. 668; 687, 104 S.Ct 2052, 2064 (1984). See Flanagan IV, 

112 Nev. at 1420. 

28. Defendant's assertion that his attorney was ineffective for not determining that Defendant 

was incompetent to stand trial due to the psychotiopic medication he was taking is belied by the 

record, 	rgrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 503, 686 Pld 222, 225 (1984). Defendant appeared 

competent during his appearances in court. Specifically, during the Petrocelli hearing conducted 

by the District Court, Defendant clearly and coherently answered the required series of questions 

illustrating his mentally clarity. (35 RA 1637-1640). 

29. Defendant's claim that his attorney was ineffective for not moving to continue the case 

in order to better prepare for trial is belied and repelled by the record, jlargrove v. State, 100 

Nev. 498, 503, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). The record indicates that Defendant's attorney 

conducted a thorough cross-examination of the State's witnesses indicating he was prepared for 

trial. (33 RA 1121, 1249-50, 1255; 34 iRA 1399-1400, 1403-1404, 1407-1410). As such, 

Defendant's attorney was not ineffective in not moving to continue. 

30. Defendant's claims that his attorney was ineffective for failing to challenge the complaint, 

for failing to file a motion in limine to preclude any witchcraft evidence and for failing to object 

to the court-designed exercise of peremptory challenges are without merit. A simple check of 

the record of the case shows that the Complaint, Amended Complaint and Information all 

charged Defendant with two (2) counts of murder putting him on notice of the charges against 

him and making a challenge by his attorney unnecessary. (1 RA 138-146; 181-185). 
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• 	• 
Furthermore, pursuant to Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 535 P.2d 797 (1975), the doctrine of law 

2 of the case governs Defendant's ciairrl regarding the witchcraft evidence and Defendant's 

3 objection to the court-designed exercise of peremptory challenges as the Nevada Supreme Court 

4 has already addressed these issues. Sel  lanagap I 

	

5 31. 	Defendant's argument that his attorney was ineffective because he failed to request 

6 investigative funds from the court is a naked allegation. Harwrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 

7 P.2d 222 (1984). Further, Defendant has not demonstrated that this failure prejudiced him as 

8 required by Skicklanity..Witshingicui, 566 US. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1980. 

	

9 32. 	Defendant's assertion that his attorney was ineffective because he failed to press the 

10 District Court for a change of venue is belied by the record. Hargrove v. 	100 Nev. 498, 

II 686 P.2d 222 (1984) Defendant's attorney filed a Motion for Change of Venue (2 RA 482-485). 

12 Moreover, Defendant's attorney argued before the District Court that a change of venue would 

13 be necessary if the jury pool was too small after the jury voir dire. (29 RA 81-82). Defendant's 
..d 

14 attorney acted in compliance with Nevada law that requires such a motion to be made after voir 

15 dire. Ford v. State, 102 Nev. 126, 717 P.2d 27 (1986); Cutlery. State, 93 Nev. 329, 566 P2d 

16 809 (1977). Thus, Defendant's assertion is belied and repelled by the record. 

	

17 33. 	Defendant's argument that his attorney was ineffective for failing to effectively cross- 

8 examine the State's witnesses regarding inconsistencies in their testimony is belied and repelled 

19 by the record. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984). During cross-examination, 

20 Defendant's attorney highlighted the inconsistencies of several of the State's witnesses. (See 

21 33 RA 1121, 1249-50, 1255; 34 RA 1399-1400, 1403-1404, 1407-1410). 

	

22 34. 	Defendant fails to demonstrate that his attorney was ineffective for not examining 

23 witnesses on key factual issues such as why there were no glass shards found where the 

24 defendants broke into the victims' home. Defendant fails to indicate how this failure prejudiced 

25 his case. Strickland v. 	566 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). In light of 

26 	  

27 

28 
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2  Defendant was represented by the Clark County Public Defender which has a staff of 
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1 the substantial evidence against Defendant, it is unlikely that this alleged failure affected the 

2 outcome of Defendant's case. Su Flanagan 1. 

	

3 35. 	Defendant's contention that his attorney was ineffective for not sufficiently cross- 

4 examining Wayne Wittig ("Wittig") to pkirtray Wittig's lack of personal knowledge concerning 

5 the facts to which he testified is without merit. Defendant's claim that Wittig gleaned his 

6 testimony from the newspapers is a naked allegation. Ha:grove y. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 

7 222 (1984). Defendant provides no affidavits or offers of proof to support this claim. As such, 

8 Defendant cannot demonstrate that his attorney was ineffective. 

	

9 36. 	Defendant fails to demonstrate that his attorney was ineffective for not investigating 

10 Angela Saldana's ("Saldana") criminal record for cross examination purposes. See Strickland 

11 v. Washington, 566 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). Defendant's attorney 

12 thoroughly covered inconsistencies in Saldana's testimony during cross examination and elicited 

13 testimony regarding Saldana's potential receipt of $2,000 for the information she provided to 

14 police. (Sae 34 RA 1399.1400, 1403.04, 1407-1410). The record indicates that Defendant's 

15 attorney sufficiently cross examined Saldana, therefore, Defendant cannot demonstrate that he 

16 was prejudiced by his attorney's failure to investigate Saldana's record. 

17 37, In McKenna v. State, 114 Nev. 1044, 968 P.2d 739, 743 (1998), the Nevada Supreme 

18 Court concluded that no actual prejudice to the defendant had been shown by the presence of 

19 SWAT officers in the courtroom. As sucti, Defendant's claim that his attorney's failure to object 

20 to the presence of armed guards in the courtroom was ineffective assistance of counsel is 

21 without merit. 

	

22 38. 	Defendant's allegations that his attorney was ineffective for failing to object to the jury 

23 seeing Defendant is shackles is a naked allegation. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 

24 222 (1984). Defendant provides no proof that any member of the jury saw him in shackles. As 

25 such, Defendant cannot demonstrate his attorney was ineffective. See StriCkland v. Washington, 

26 566 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.C. 2052, 2064 (1984). 

	

27 39. 	Defendant's claim that his attorney was ineffective for not conducting an adequate 

28 mitigation investigation during the first, penalty hearing is moot given that Defendant was 
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• 	• 
granted two other penalty hearings. SetlFlanagan I; Flanagan II. 

	

2 40. 	Defendant's allegations that his attorney was ineffective for not objecting to and for not 

3 offering any jury instructions during the penalty hearing are without merit. Defendant's 

4 suggestion that an objection to the "great risk" factor should have been made and an instruction 

5 to require a "nexus between the burglary and robbery" should have been requested is contrary 

6 to the law of the case. Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 315-16, 535 P.2d 797 (1975). The Nevada 

7 Supreme Court previously held that the great risk factor was appropriate and that sufficient 

8 evidence was presented to support that aggravating factor. Flanagan IV, 112 Nev. at 1421. 

9 Moreover, in addressing Defendant's assertion that a "nexus" should have been required 

10 between the burglary and robbery the Court ruled that "Nide see no merit to Flanagan's argument 

11 anyway?' Id. at 1422. Thus the law of the case doctrine nullifies any claim that Defendant's 

12 attorney was ineffective for failing to object to or request such jury instructions. 

	

13 41. 	All of Defendant's allegations regarding the second penalty hearing are moot as 

14 Defendant was granted a third penalty hearing. Sgg Flanagan III 

	

15 42. 	Defendant's allegation that the Public Defender's office allotted inadequate resources to 

16 the investigation and preparation for the third penalty hearing is a naked allegation 

17 unsubstantiated by any specific facts. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984). 

	

18 43. 	Defendant's claim that his attorney was ineffective in the third penalty hearing for 

19 turning over raw data from Defendant's mental health evaluation is without merit. Such 

20 information is available to the State under NRS 174.234(2) 3, and therefore the production of this 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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3NRS 174.234(2) reads in pertinent part: 

If the defendant will be tried for one or more offenses that are 
punishable us a gross misdemeanor or felony and a witness that a 
party intends to call durinw the case in chief of the state or during 
the case in chief of the defendant is expected to offer testimony as 
an expert witness, the paw/who intends to call that witness shall 
file and serve upon the opposing party, not 1e55 than 21 days before 
trial or at such other time as the court directs, a written notice 
containing: 
(a) A brief state,rnent regarding the subject matter on which the 
expert witness is expected to testify and the substance of his 
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110  
"raw data" cannot be held to be ineffective. 

44 	Pursuant to NRS 173. 115, criminal defenses may be joined. NRS 173.115 provides: 

Two or more offenses may be charged in the same indictment of 
information in a separate count for each offense if the offenses 
charged, whether felonies or misdemeanors or both, are: 

, 
I. Based on the same act or transaction; or 

2. Based on two or more acts or transactions connected 
together or constituting parts of a common scheme or plan. 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that when separate crimes are connected together by a 

continued course of conduct, joinder is appropriate. Tillema v.,State,  112 Nev. 266, 914 P.2d 

605 (1996). The Nevada Supreme Court has repeatedly held that joinder decisions are within the 

discretion of the trial court, and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. Robins v. 

Elate, 106 Nev. 611, 619, 798 P.2d 558, 563 (1990). Defendant's claim that the public 

defender's office was ineffective for not severing his third penalty hearing from co-defendant, 

Randolph Moore is without merit. The District Court has wide discretion in the interests of 

judicial economy to keep the two hearings together. Furthermore, the Nevada Supreme Court 

consolidated Defendant's case with co-defendant Moore's case in 1991 for ease of 

consideration. See Flanagan Ii. 

45. 	Defendant's claim that his attorney was ineffective for not seeking an evaluation as to 

Defendant's competency to stand trial because Defendant was under the influence of 

psychotropic drugs is belied by the record. Nargrove v. State,  100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 

(1984). Not only does Defendant fail to offer any affidavit or documents which prove he was 

under substantial doses of psychotropic medications, but the record also indicates Defendant 

understood the proceedings by the District Court. During the Petrocelli  hearing conducted by the 

District Court, Defendant was able to coherently answer all of the questions posed to him. (35 

RA 1637-40). Such clear communication with the court refutes Defendant's contention that he 

testimony: 
27 11 	 (b) A copy of the curriculum vitae of the expert witness; and 

(c) A copy of all reports made by or at the direction of the expert 
2811 	 witness. 

-16- 	PAWPDOCSIORDRWORDR%404.40468701.WPrAjk 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 • 

000953 



was unable to fully comprehend the nature of the charges against him and the magnitude of the 

2 penalty he faced. (Supplemental Petition, p. 44). As the record indicates Defendant understood 

3 the proceedings, his attorney was not ineffective. 

	

4 46. 	Defendant's assertion that his attorney was ineffective for failing to force the District 

5 Court to allow a change of venue is belied by the record fiargroye.  v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 

6 P.2d 222 (1984). Defendant's attorney did, in fact, file a motion in limine for a change of 

7 venue. However, at a pre-trial hearing, Defendant's attorney agreed with the District Court to 

8 delay ruling on the motion to determine whether an impartial jury could be attained from the jury 

9 venire as required by Nevada case law. (29 RA 81-82) Seg Eorsl, 102 Nev. 126, 717 P.2d 27 

10 (1986); Cutler, 93 Nev. 329, 566 P.2d 809 (1977). in doing so, Defendant's attorney gave him 

11 a preview of what the prospective jurors were thinking about the Case without losing the right 

12 to argue for a change of venue. As such, Defendant's attorney was not ineffective. 

	

13 47. 	Both the Sixth and the Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution 

14 guarantee a defendant the right to a jury selected from a representative cross-section of the 

15 community. This right requires that the pools from which juries are drawn do not systematically 

16 exclude distinctive groups in the community. Taylor v. Louisiana, 419 U.S. 522, 538, 95 S.Ct. 

17 692,702 (1975). However, there is no requirement that the jury that is selected actually mirror 

18 the population at large. Holland v. Illinois, 493 U.S. 474, 110 S.Ct. 803 (1990). 

	

19 48. 	The defendant bears the burden of establishing a prima facie violation of the fair cross- 

20 section requirement. In order to demonstrate a prima facie violation, the defendant must show 

21 1) that the group alleged to be excluded is a distinctive group in the community, 2) that the 

22 representation of this group in venires from which juries are selected is not fair and reasonable 

23 in relation to the number of such persons in the community and 3) that this under representation 

24 is due to systematic exclusion of the group in the jury selection process. Duren V. Missouri, 439 

25 U.S. 357, 364, 99 S.Ct. 664, 668 (1979) :. This test has been adopted by the Nevada Supreme 

26 Court. au Evans v. State, 112 Nev. 1172, 1186, 926 P.2d 265,274 (1996). Defendant's claim 

27 that he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney failed to object to the 

28 Clark County jury selection system which systematically excludes African Americans is without 
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merit. Defendant has failed to meet the test outlined by the Supreme Court. As such, Defendant 

2 cannot demonstrate that his attorney's actions were ineffective. 

3 49. 	Defendant neglects to show how he .  was prejudiced by his attorney's failure to object to 

4 the all White jury that convicted Defendant as Defendant is White. Strickland v. Washingt211, 

5 566 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). 

6 50. The Nevada Supreme Court has upheld joint exercises of peremptory challenges based 

7 upon NRS 175.015. NRS 175.015(now 175.041) reads in pertinent part: 

8 	 When several defendants are tried together, they cannot sever their 
peremptory challenges, but must join therein. 

9 

10 lee also Doyles. State,  82 Nev. 242, 415 P.2d 323 (1966); Anclerss2ri y, State,  81 Nev. 477, 406 

11 13 ,2d 532 (1965). 

12 51. 	Defendant's contention that his csinviction is invalid because his attorney was forced to 

13 jointly exercise peremptory challenges with counsel for the co-defendants and because the 

14 District Court failed to grant him an additional peremptory when there was a disagreement about 

15 the last challenge to be used is without mcerit. In United States v, Maendon,  782 F.2d 785 (9th 

16 Cir. 1986), two co-defendants were on iial for a series of bank robberies. The Ninth Circuit 

17 Court of Appeals has held: 

18 	 there is no "right" to additional peremptory challenges in multiple 
defendant cases4and thati—[d]tsagreement between co-defendant 

19 

	

	 on the exercise 01 joint peremptory, challenges does not mandate a 
grant of additional challenges unless defendants demonstrate that 

20 	 the jury ultimately selected is not impartial or representative of the 

21 	
community, hi. at 787-88. 

22 Defendant has failed to show that the jury selected was not impartial or representative of the 

23 community. In fact, Defendant points out that seven of eight challenges were agreed upon by 

24 counsel for all the defendants. Claiming that the exercise of one challenge creates a non- 

25 representative jury is tenuous at best. 

26 52. 	Defendant fails to demonstrate how his attorney's failure to object to the joinder of 

27 peremptory challenges prejudiced him as required by StieklansUantingign, 566 U.S. 668, 
t‘i 

28 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). 
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53. 	Defendant's allegation that his three appellate attorneys were ineffective for not raising 

2 issues regarding his First Amendment rights and prosecutorial misconduct is belied by the 

3 record. Hargrave v. State,  100 Nev. 498,686 P.2d 222 (1984). The United States Supreme Court 

4 and the Nevada Supreme Court both ruled on Defendant's First Amendment rights in light of 

5 the witchcraft evidence introduced at trial and argued during the penalty hearings. Sec Flanagan 

6 v. Nevade,  503 U.S. 931(1992); Flanaganil; Flajiagan W. Further, Defendant's first appellate 

7 counsel did raise the issue of prosecutorial misconduct during closing arguments as part of 

8 Defendant's first appeal to the Nevada §uprerne Court. acg Flanagan I. 

9 54, The Supreme Court has recognized the "importance of winnowing out weaker arguments 

10 on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most, on a few key issues," Jones 

11 v. 82rnes,  463 U.S. 745, 751-752, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 3313 (1983). In particular, a "brief that raises 

12 every colorable issue runs the risk of burying the good arguments ,.. in a verbal mound made up 

13 of strong and weak contentions." Id. at 753. 

	

14 55. 	The Supreme Court has, therefore, held that for "judges to second guess reasonable 

15 professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim 

16 suggested by a client would deserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy." Id. at 

17 754, 3314. Beyond that, appellate counsels' tactical decisions not to raise every possible issue 

18 on appeal work to enhance the likelihood of success for those meritorious claims that are 

19 appealed, See Hollenlack,  987 F.2d 1272, 1275 (7th Cir. 1993); Jones,  463 U.S. 745, 103 S.Ct. 

20 3308 (1983). As such, Defendant's allegation that his appellate attorneys were ineffective for 

21 failing to raise on appeal many of the claims that he now makes in this petition is without merit. 

	

22 56. 	Defendant's allegation that prior opinions by the Nevada Supreme Court on death penalty 

23 cases have been consistently arbitrary, unprincipled and result-oriented is a naked allegation 

24 unsubstantiated by facts. Hargrove v. State,  100 Nev. 498, 686 P,2d 222 (1984). 

	

25 57. 	The Eighth Judicial District Court lacks jurisdiction to stand in judgment of decisions 

26 issued by the Nevada Supreme Court. So Nev. Const. Article 6 Section 6. 

	

27 58. 	Defendant's allegation that his counsel was ineffective in not challenging the jury 

28 instruction regarding reasonable doubt is without merit. The Nevada Supreme Court has 
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1 consistently held that there is no reasonable likelihood that a jury will apply the instruction 

2 defining reasonable doubt' in an unconstitutional manner where the instruction is accompanied 

3 by other instructions regarding the State's burden of proof and the presumption of the 

4 defendant's innocence. Doiljpgcr v,State,  I 1 1 Nev. 1110, 1114, 901 P.2d 671,674 (1995). In 

5 this case, the jury was given an additional instruction s  regarding the State's burden of proof. 

6 59. The Nevada Supreme Court has approved the "weighty affairs" language contained in 

7 Nevada's reasonable doubt jury instruction. Bollinger, at 1114. The Nevada Supreme Court has 

8 held that although it elected not to scrutinize such language, the "proper inquiry is not whether 

9 the instruction 'could have' been applied in an unconstitutional manner, but whether there is a 

10 reasonable likelihood that the jury did so apply it." id, at 674 (quoting Victor v-Nebraska,  511 

11 11.5. 1, 114 S.Ct. 1739 (1994)). In the case at bar, the instruction defining reasonable doubt was 

12 accompanied by an instruction regarding the State's burden of proof and another instruction 

13 regarding the presumption of innocence. As such, there is no reasonable probability that the jury 

14 believed the instruction allowed the conviction of Defendant based on a lesser quantum of 

15 evidence than is required by the Constitution. See Bollinger,  at 1114. 

16 60. 	Defendant's claim that his attorney was ineffective in not objecting to the jury instruction 

17 regarding premeditation/deliberation and implied malice is without merit. The instruction given 

18 in this case has been upheld by the Nevada Supreme Court. See Kazalyn v. State,  108 Nev. 67, 

19 825 P.2d 578 (1992). In Ezzadxa, the Court determined that the premeditation instruction was 

20 distinct from the malice instruction. In holding that the premeditation instruction was distinct, 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 offense." 
material element of the crime charged and that a defendant Is a person who c-ortunitted the 

The instruction reads, "The defendant is presUnagtlilanOcfni  until the contrary is proved. 
;roving beyond a reasonable doubt  eon' 
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The jury instruction for reasonable doubt reads, "A reasonable doubt is one based on 
reason. It is not mere_possible doubt, butis such a doubt as would govern or control a person in 
the more weighty affairs of life. If the minds of the jurors, after the entire comparison and 
consideration of all the evidence, are in such a condition that they can say they feel an abiding 
conviction of the truth of the charge, there is not a reasonable doubt. Doubt to be reasonable 
must be actual, not mere possibility or speculation. 
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I the Nevada Supreme Court found the same instruction for premeditation used in Defendant's 

2 ease to be appropriate: 	Ii at 

3 61. Further, in iambs the Court specifically noted that the murder instructions adequately 

4 met the premeditation/deliberation and malice' criteria as set forth in Payne v. State,  81 Nev. 503, 

5 508-509, 406 P.2d 922 (1965). 

6 62. 	Recently, in yford v. Slate,  116 Nev. Adv. Op. 23, p. 19,25 (February 28, 2000), the 

Nevada Supreme Court reviewed the Kaialyn  instruction. In that opinion, the Nevada Supreme 

11 Court changed the instructions for all cases in the future.  However, at the time that the trial 

court in the instant case gave the murder instructions, the premeditation instruction was clearly 

good law. Moreover, in Dyford,  the Court recognized that it had expressly informed the district 

courts in prior opinions that the Kautbra instruction was proper and that the new instruction was 

12 not retroactive, Dxfoid, 116 Nev. Adv. Op. 22-23 at 22. Therefore, the District Court's reliance 

13 on the express holdings of the Nevada Supreme Court cannot be viewed as plain error. Clearly, 

14 the giving of the icazalya instruction of premeditation and deliberation was not plain error, and 

15 neither trial nor appellate counsel can be held to have been ineffective for not challenging an 

16 instruction that had been consistently endorsed by the Nevada Supreme Court. 

17 63. The Nevada Supreme Court has held that the "equal and exact justice" instruction used 

by the District Court in the instant case is valid. In Leonars1 I,Sjate,  114 Nev. 1196, 969 P.2d 

288, 296 (1998), the Nevada Supreme Court ruled on allegations that the instruction denied the 

20 defendant his presumption of innocence. $ge also McKenna v. State,  96 Nev. 811,618 P2d 348 

(1980). The Court found that instruction does not concern the presumption of innocence. id. 

Further, it ruled that based on other instructions given regarding the burden of proof, the 

defendant was not denied the presumption of innocence. Id. The District Court in Defendant's 

24 case also instructed the jury separately on the issues of burden of proof and presumption of 

Premeditation is a des 	a determination to kill, distinctly formed in the mind at any 
261 moment before or at the time of the killing, Premeditation need not be for a day, an hour or even 

a minute. It may be as instantaneous as successive thoughts of the mind. If the jurybelivves from 
271 the evidence that the act constituting the killing has been the result of premeditation, no matte? 

bow rapidly the premeditation is followed by the act constituting thy killing, it is wilful, 
28 I deliberate, and premeditated murder. (3 R4 596). 
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1 innocence. Therefore, Defendant's assertion that the jury did not give him the benefit of the 

2 presumption of innocence or that they convicted him based on a lesser standard of proof is a bare 

3 allegation. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498,686 P.2d 222 (1984). 

	

4 64. 	The Nevada Supreme Court has concluded that the "guilt or innocence by any other 

5 person" instruction given in the instant ease is constitutionally souncUee Guy v. State, 108 Nev. 

6 770, 839 P.2d 578 (1992). In Guy, the Court considered the same language used in the 

7 instruction in the instant case and rejected the defendant's argument that the instruction confused 

8 the jury. 0, at 778. Moreover, the Court went on to find that the challenged instruction 

9 sufficiently directed the jury to ignore the co-defendant's culpability when determining whether 

10 the defendant was guilty as charged, L. 

	

11 65. 	Defendant's argument that his conviction is invalid because insufficient evidence existed 

12 to support the jury's finding of the aggreating factor that the killing was committed by someone 

13 who knowingly created a great risk of death to more than one person is precluded by the law of 

14 the case. Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314,535 P.2d 797 (1975). The Nevada Supreme Court has ruled 

15 that substantial evidence existed to support the finding that Defendant knowingly created "a 

16 great risk of death to more than one person by means of a weapon and course of action which 

17 would normally be hazardous to the lives of more than one person." Flanagan IV, at 1421. 

18 Thus, Defendant is precluded from having this court re-hear this same flawed argument under 

19 the "law of the case" doctrine. See Hell, at 314. 

	

20 66. 	Furthermore, Defendant is precluded from raising his allegation that there was 

21 insufficient evidence to convict him of cre,ating a great risk of death as it is the type of claims 

22 that should have been raised in any one of Defendant's direct appeals to the Nevada Supreme 

23 Court. lee Emnulay„attlic, 110 Nev. 750, 877 P.2d 1058 (1994). 

	

24 67. 	Defendant's claim that insufficient evidence existed to support the aggravating factor of 

25 murder while engaged in the commission of burglary is without merit. In apnea v. State, 106 

26 Nev. 135, 787 P.2d 797 (1990), the Nevada Supreme Court rejected that argument that the 

27 aggravating factor of burglary was not supported by the evidence. The Court reasoned that: 

28 / / / 
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NRS 200.033(4) only requires that, for burglary to be an 
aggravating circumstance, the murder must be committed while the 
person was engaged in the commission  of or an attempt to commit 
or flight after committing or attempting to commit burglar ,/ or 
robbery. This was clearly the case here. Were it otherwise, burglary 
could be used as an aggravating circumstance only upon the rare 
occasion of a killing Which occurs while the defendant is entering 
the building. 

6 I. 106 Nev. at 142. In the instant case,'Sere was uncontroverted evidence that Defendant killed 

7 his grandmother during the commission of the burglary while his co-defendants killed his 

8 grandfather and therefore, it was an appropriate aggravator. See Flanagan I. 

	

9 68. 	Defendant is precluded from raising the contention that there was insufficient evidence 

10 to support the aggravating factor of committing murder while in the commission of robbery by 

11 the doctrine of law of the case as the Nevada Supreme Court previously considered the issue in 

12 flanagan.LV  . Hall v. State,  91 Nev. 314, 535 11.2d 797 (1975). 

	

13 69. 	Defendant's claim that his conviction is invalid because the District Court permitted the 

14 State to use the same facts to convict him under a felony murder theory and to support one of 

15 aggravating factors for the death sentence is meritless. The Nevada Supreme Court has 

16 approved the use of the underlying felony in felony murder cases as a valid aggravating 

17 circumstance to support the imposition of the death sentence. Atkins_y,_State, 112 Nev. 1122, 

18 1134, 923 P.2d 1119 (1996) quoting PettOcelli v LState, 101 Nev. 46, 53, 692 P.2d 503 (1985); 

19 accord Miranda v. Statc, 101 Nev. 562, 707 P.2d 1121 (1985), cert. denied 475 U.S. 1031 

20 (1986); farmey v. State,  101 Nev. 419, 705 P.2d 149 (1985) cert. denied 476 U.S. 1130 (1986). 

	

21 70. 	Defendant's claim that his conviction is invalid because the District Court improperly 

22 instructed the jury during Defendant's three (3) penalty hearings is precluded from review 

23 because it is the type of claim that should have been raised in Defendant's direct appeal. 

24 Franklin Y- State,  110 Nev. 750, 877 P.2d 1058 (1994). 

25 71. The anti-sympathy jury instruction has been endorsed as constitutional by the Nevada 

26 Supreme Court. Sherman v. State,  114 Nev. 998,965 P.2d 903 (1998). The Court, in Sherman, 

27 decided that as long as the jury is giventirpstruction to consider mitigating circumstances, the 

28 anti-sympathy instruction is proper. 	Therefore, Defendant's contention that the District Court 
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I precluded the jury's consideration of any type of sympathy when it gave the anti-sympathy 

2 instruction is without merit. Furthermore, as the Nevada Supreme Court previously considered 

3 this issue in Flanagan IV,  Defendant is precluded from raising it in his petition by the doctrine 

4 of law of the case. FAH v. Slate,  91 Nev. 314, 535 P.2d 797 (1975). 

5 72. 	Defendant's assertion that the District Court failed to properly instruct the jury about 

6 unanimity regarding their findings of aggravating and mitigating circumstances contravenes 

7 existing case law. The Nevada Supreme Court has clearly ruled that during a penalty hearing, 

8 the jury instructions do not have to 	a unanimity requirement to find mitigating 

9 circumstances. Jinainez v, State,  112 Nev. 610, 624, 918 P.2d 687 (1996). The Court in Jiminez  

10 held that: 

11 
	in 

13 

14 

12 
	 aggravating circumstances and mitigating circumstance-s rraching 

the conclusion that the latter were not 5uffiQient to outweigh the 

to find mitigators, such as a requirement of unanimity or proof by 
a preponderance of the evidence or any other standard. 

former. There was no constraint on the right of individual jurors 

In the end, each juror must have evaluated the juxt2p435ition of 

15 N. See also  Geary v. Suitt,  114 Nev. 100, 952 P.2d 431(1998); Hill v. State,  114 Nev. 169, 953 

16 P.2d 1077 (1998). 

17 73. 	In en nett v. State,  111 Nev. 1099, 1109, 901 P.2d 676 (1995), the Nevada Supreme 

18 Court found that a jury instruction nearly identical to the one in the instant case adequately 

19 informed the jury that there was no requirement to impose the death penalty. 7  The Court stated; 

20 III 

21 /11 

22 1/1 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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The jury instruction in Bon= &aid in pertinent part: 

The jury may impose a sentence of death only if it finds at least one 
aggravating circumstance has been established beyond a reasomblo 
doubt and further finds that them are no mitigating circumstances 
sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstance or 
circumstances found. 

Otherwise, punishment imposed shall be imprisonment in the state 
prison for life with or without the possibility of parole. 
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11. • 	• 
• i we conclude that the above jury nstruction accurately informed the 

jury of their statutorily endowed prerogative to decide whether 
'defendant] would bye, regardless of whether aggravating 
circumstances outweighed mitigating circumstances. "Iselay" is 
clearly permissive in the context of NRS 175.554(3) and the 
instruction submitted to the jury. 

5 Id. Thus, the jury instruction adequately instructed the jury in this case. 

	

6 74. 	Defendant's challenge to the commutation instruction based on the argument that the jury 

7 was too ignorant to understand the plain language of the instruction is a naked allegation 

8 unsubstantiated by fact. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984). 

	

9 75, 	Defendant's claim that errors occurred during the jury selection of the second penalty 

10 hearing is moot as he was granted a third penalty hearing. See Flanagan III. 

	

11 76. 	Defendant's allegations regarding the impartiality of the judges who presided over his 

12 trial and penalty hearings are nothing more than a collection of naked allegations for which 

13 Defendant fails to provide any proof. liars -rove v. State, 100 Nev, 498, 686 P2d 222 (1984), 

	

14 77. 	Defendant's allegations regarding the lack of impartiality of the judges who presided 

15 over his first and second penalty hearings are moot as Defendant received a third penalty 

16 hearing. See Flanagaithl 

	

17 78. 	Defendant's allegation that Judge Mosley said to counsel "let's get back to work and get 

18 these guys executed," is a naked allegation unsubstantiated by any facts or affidavits. Hargrove 

19 v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984). 

20 79. Defendant's allegation that Judge Mosley was ultimately removed from the case because 

21 of his bias against Defendant is belied by the record. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 

22 222 (1984). The record of the case clearly indicates that Judge Mosley was found not to be 

23 biased or prejudiced against the defendants. After hearing oral arguments, then Chief District 

24 Court Judge Nancy Becker ruled that: 

25 	 lrieview of the transcript ef the proceedings ofJune 24, 1991 and 
the Affidavit of Judgp Mosley shows that there is no actual 

26 	 prejudice or bias againo any .af_ the parties !o _11;Lia .  case. The 
comments of Judge Mosley only evidenced a dissatisfaction with 

27 	 the overall slowness of the appellate process in capital cases, The 
challenged comments, while not showing actual prejudice or bias, 

28 	 could be construed  to give an appearance of prejudice. While 
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4 • 	• 
appearance of prejudice is usually insufficient to require the 
disqualification of a District Court Judge, the history of this case 

2 

	

	 and the fact that it is a capital case requires that an abundance of 
caution be exercised. 

3 

4 (5 RA 1324) (Emphasis added). Thus, Defendant's allegation is clearly belied and repelled by 

5 the record. Id. 

6 80. Defendant's claims regarding Judge Mosley are precluded from review in his petition as 

7 they are the type that should have been ralSod'on direct appeal. Franklin v. State,  110 Nev. 750, 

8 877 P.2d 1058 (1994). 

9 81. 	Defendant's claim that Judge Addeliar Guy was somehow biased against Defendant is 

10 a naked allegation. Hargroyg v. State,  100 Nev. 498,686 P.2d 222 (1984). Further, Defendant 

11 fails to show how Judge Guy's disposition prejudiced him during the third penalty hearing as 

12 required by Strickland v. Washingtoa,  566 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). 

13 82. 	Defendant's claim that his death sentence is invalid because the Nevada capital 

14 punishment system operates in an arbitrary and capricious manner is without merit. The Nevada 

15 Supreme Court has long held that Nevada's use of the death penalty meets both federal and state 

16 constitutional requirements. See Voarrkv. State,  100 Nev. 167, 174, 679 P.2d 797 (1984). In 

17 liana, the Court reviewed Nevada's death penalty statutes in light of United States Supreme 

18 Court opinions regarding similar statutes from Florida and Georgia and ruled that: 

19 	 1s]ince our procedure for weighing aggravating and mitigating 
circumstances provides the seri tencer with adequate information and 

20 

	

	 guidance and the accused with SU fficient guarantees that the penalty 
of death will not be imposed arbitrarily and capriciously, the 

21 	 challenged statute passes constitutional muster. 

22 I. 100 Nev. at 176. See also Hill v, State,  102 Nev. 377, 724 P.2d 734 (1986); Middletata,  

23 State,  114 Nev. 1089, 968 F.2d 296 (1998). 

24 81. The District Court lacks jurisdiction to review decisions made by the Nevada Supreme 

25 Court. 522 Nev. Const. Article 6 Section 6. 

26 84. Defendant's contention that the Amended Complaint did not apprise him of the crimes 

27 he was charged with is belied by the record. Hargrove v. State,  100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 

28 (1984). The Amended Complaint filed in open court on February 11, 1984 put Defendant on 
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• 
1 notice of the charges against him. (1 RA 141-146). Furthermore, at the subsequent preliminary 

2 hearing, Defendant heard all the evidence that was used to bind him up to the District Court on 

3 the charges in the Amended Complaint, 

	

4 85. 	Defendant's claim that his conviction and sentence are defective because he wasn't 

5 present during critical court proceedings is a naked allegation unsubstantiated by specific facts. 

6 Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984). Defendant fails to provide evidence that 

7 he was, in fact, missing during important court proceedings. 

	

8 86. 	A defendant's absence from preliminary matters or hearings does not necessarily 

9 prejudice him. ate Thomas y, State, 114 Nev. 1127, 967 P.2d 1111 (1998). Thus, Defendant 

10 does not demonstrate how his alleged absence from court proceedings prejudiced him as 

11 required by Strickland v., Washington, 566 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct, 2052, 2064 (1984). 

	

12 87. 	Defendant's claim that his conviction and sentence are invalid because the District Court 

13 precluded public access to the trial by failing to have all the proceedings recorded or reported 

14 is a naked allegation. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984). Defendant fails 

15 to provide any affidavit or offer of prod to support these allegations. Further, the appellate 

16 record is replete with instances in which Defendant's attorney and counsel for the co-defendants 

17 created a record of bench conferences. (i.e. 32 RA 915, 33 RA 1081). 

	

18 88. 	Defendant's allegations that his death sentence is invalid because it violates both the 

19 federal and state constitutional guarantees against cruel and unusual punishment are without 

20 merit. The Nevada Supreme Court has ruled that the Nevada death penalty statutes are in 

2 I conformance with other death penalty statutes that had been upheld by the United States 

22 Supreme Court. Bishop v. State, 95 Nev. 511, 517-18, 597 P.2d 273 6979). The Nevada 

23 Supreme Court specifically held that "[t)he imposition of the death penalty.. .offends neither the 

24 United States Constitution nor the Nevada Constitution." Id. at 518. See also aLwell v. State, 

	

25 112 Nev. 807, 919 P.2d 403 (1996); Bennett v. 	106 Nev. 135, 787 P.2d 797 (1990); 

26 Rogers v. State, 101 Nev. 457, 705 P.2d 664 (1985). 

	

27 89. 	Defendant's allegation that his qFptence is invalid because he may, at some point in the 

28 future, become incompetent to be executed even though he is not presently incompetent is 
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meritless and improperly raised. In Martinez-Villareat,  118 F.3d 628, 634 (1997), the Ninth 

2 Circuit Court of Appeals held that a defendant's competency claims have to be raised in his first 

3 federal habeas petition, The Ninth Circuit opined that once the state issues a second warrant of 

4 execution, then the state court could consider the ripe competency claim which could be 

5 followed by federal review of the same gitie and only that issue. 1. As this is not the case with 

6 Defendant's claim, it is prematurely raised, 

	

7 90. 	Defendant's claim that his conviction and sentence are unreliable because of the District 

8 Court's failure to sever Defendant's' case from his co-defendants' eases resulting in the 

admission of witchcraft evidence is without merit. In Nall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 535 P.2d 797 

(1975), the Nevada Supreme Court stated that "Nhe law of a first appeal is the law of the case 
- 

on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same". Hall v. State,  91 Nev. 

314, 315, 535 P.2d 797 (2000). Defendant's complaint regarding the admission of so-called 

"witchcraft evidence" introduced by a co-defendant and referenced by the State has already been 

decided by the Nevada Supreme Court. In Flanagan IV,  the Nevada Supreme Court held that 

a harmless error analysis was appropriate when considering the admission or the so-called 

"witchcraft evidence" during the falai. Flanagan 1V,  at 1418-1421, The Court ruled that because 

there was "overwhelming evidence" agbinst Defendant, any admission of such evidence was 

harmless at best, Flanagan_IV,  at 1420. 

	

91. 	Defendant's contention that his sentence is defective because Nevada has no effective 

mechanism for clemency in capital casA is without merit. In Colwell v. State, 112 Nev. 807, 

812-13, 919 P.2d 403 (1996), the Nevada Supreme Court addressed a related issue when it 

considered whether NR.S 213.085s  rendered the Nevada death penalty scheme unconstitutional 

INRS 213.085 reads in pertinent part: 

1. If a person is convicted of murder of the first-degree before, on 

or after July 1, 1995, the board shall not commute .  
A sentence of death; 
A sentence of imprisonment in the state prison for 

Ii(e without !he possibility of parole, to a sentence 
that would allow parole. 
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• 	• 
1 by denying clemency. Finding that clemency encompassed the powers to commute a sentence 

2 or to pardon a defendant, the Court ruled that "MRS 213. 085 does not completely deny the 

3 opportunity for 'clemency' ....but rather modifies and limits the power of commutation," hi 

4 Therefore, Defendant's "no mechanism for clemency" argument lacks merit as it did in Colwell. 

	

5 92. 	Defendant's allegation regarding clemency is precluded in the instant petition as it is the 

6 type of claim that should have been raised in any one of Defendant's direct appeals to the 

7 Nevada Supreme Court. Franklin y_State, 110 Nev, 750, 877 P.2d 1088 (1994). 

	

8 93. 	Defendant's contention that his conviction and sentence are invalid because jurors 

9 allegedly saw him in shackles is a naked allegation. Hargrove v.. State, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 

10 222 (1984). Defendant fails to provide an affidavit or any offer of proof that he was seen by 

11 jurors while in shackles. Further, even if befendant's claims are true, they are without merit. A 

12 jury's brief or inadvertent glimpse of a defendant in physical restraints outside of the courtroom 

13 has not warranted habeas relief. Rhoden v. Rowland, 172 F.3d 633, 636 (1999) eking _United 

14 States v. Olano, 62 F.3d 1180, 1190 (9tV'Cir. 1995). 

15 94. Defendant's argument that the presence of armed guards in the courtroom impermissibly 

16 influenced the jury is refuted by the holding in McKenna v. State, 114 Nev. 1044, 968 P.2d 739 

17 (1998). In McKenna, the Nevada Supreme Court concluded that no actual prejudice to the 

1$ defendant had been shown by the presence of SWAT officers in the courtroom. Id. Similarly, 

19 Defendant cannot show he was prejudiced by the mere presence of armed guards as required by 

20 azigklurid v. Was,hington, 566 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). 

	

21 95. 	Defendant's claim that his conviction and sentence are invalid because he was denied an 

22 impartial tribunal due to the fact that trial and appellate judges in Nevada are elected and not 

23 appointed lacks merit is an inappropriate matter to be raised in a post-conviction petition and 

24 should have been raised on direct appeal. See Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 877 P.2d 1088 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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• 
(1994), 

	

2 96. 	Defendant's contest of his sentence based on counsel's failure to challenge, for cause, 

3 jurors in the second penalty hearing is moot as Defendant was granted a third penalty hearing. 

4 Etc Flanagan III. 

	

5 97. 	Defendant fails to prove his attorney was ineffective with regard to his allegations 

6 pertaining to jurors in the third penalty hearing. The record indicates that nearly all of the jurors 

7 who expressed strong feelings about :..the death penalty were removed from the jury via 

8 peremptory challenges. Defendant has not demonstrated how the exercise of these peremptory 

9 challenges to remove biased jurors prejudiced him during the third penalty hearing as required 

10 byStrickland v. Washington, 566 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984). 

	

11 98. 	Defendant's allegations in his last three claims that his conviction and sentence are 

12 invalid because the State allegedly violated international law are meritless. The treaties cited by 

13 Defendant are not controlling authority in Nevada and are therefore irrelevant to a post- 

14 conviction petition. Servin_v, State, 117 Nev. ___, 32 P.3(11277 (2001) ; aomialateffLhatate, 114 

15 Nev. 783, 961 P.2d 1279 (1998). 

	

16 99. 	A Defendant will not be heard to'complain of delays that he has caused. Woods v. State, 

17 94 Nev. 435, 581 P.2d 444 (1978); Williams v. State, 93 Nev. 405, 566 P.2d 417 (1977); Stabile 

18 V. Justice Court, 83 Nev, 393, 432 P.2d 670 (1967). Defendant's allegation that the State's 

19 pursuit of justice over the past fifteen (1,5) years, largely because Defendant has sought to 

20 exhaust every conceivable remedy under state and federal law, has been cruel and unusual 

21 punishment is without merit. Furthermore, Defendant is precluded from raising this issue by the 

22 doctrine of the law of the case as the Nevada Supreme Court addressed this issue in Flanagan  

23 J. Pall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 535 P.2d 797 (1975). 

24 /1/ 

25 III  

26 /1/ 

27 III  

28 11/ 
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4 Corpus (Poi-cum iction s denied 

5 	DATED this 	day of Au 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

/6 
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19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

• 
ORDER 

2 	Based upon the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law contained herein, it is hereby; 

3 	ORDERED, ADJUDGED, and DECREED that Defendant's Petition for Writ of Habeas 

STEWART L. BELL 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY 
Nevada Bar #000477 

:LEON SIMON 
Deputy District Attorney 
Nevada Bar #000411 
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DistRicr COURT CLERK 

CLAIM COUNTY, NEVADA 

Defesdnut. 

1 

oa I oar fossils,. 

9 DaleSdward Flanagan, 

10 	#1913719 

11 

12 

13 

14 

is 

16 

17 

18, 

19 

20 

21 

22 

24 

25 

28 

27 

28 

Q_RDEJL 

TEM maTTER came befurethe Court for evidentiazy hearing of 

Defendant's allegation of ineffective a aistane damned based on the alleged 

penionality conflict between Rebecca Blaskcy and David Will is raised in 

Defendant's Pt:titian fbr Writ of Habeas Corpus. The Cow, niter reviewing all brie

ubmitted, haasins tostilneny at the evidentiary limn; an February 14, 2002 ostd 

Drawing the file, does not find that Defendsat's counsel was ineffective under the 

test nonncianed in  613:105NELt.tbgan, 566 U.S. 668, 687 (1984) which wis 

Jain. adopted by the Nevada Supreme Court in Penner( %peaty, 111 NeV. 1099 

(1995). The teat in Strickland algal= a &di:admit to show that comas assistance 

was "deficient" and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense.jdAlta. There is also 

EXHIBIT" -1- 

r --  • r; 	0, 
PPLIF-Day Wf Wm/ ins 

/ 
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FILED 
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State of Nevada 
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Case So. 	C69269 
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day of bat, 2002. 

0' 6, 
JUL -Z3-D2 	01:68PM 	FROM-Davis WIllo Tramalso 507770$20F T-ID2 PAW/035 HID 

a strong preuureption that dean= counsel provided reasonably effective assistance of 

counsel, which can =ay be overcome by arta% wad ocwvinobig Proof to the oontorY. 

Rump %lump 94 Nev. 671 (1978). 

The Cow dots not And that Defendant has promoted strong and couvincing 

proof that both Rebecca Blasicq and David Well 	ineffactive as counsel for 

Defendant in preparation for and during his third penalty hearing. While there was 

some evidence of personality conlEcia and lack of occemoication hems* 

Defandanrs counsel, these incidents did not rise to the lervel of ineffective assistance 

of counsel nor did the Defendant dem:Orate that the incidents prejudiced btu, which 

Is nceessarrander the Strickland test 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendant's 

Petitiell for Writ of Habeas Corps is DENIED. 

Dated this  N  
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I hereby cartitY *el on Ilmga, 2002 I mailed or placed a copy in stircrney 

folder or hand delivered the foregoing Order to the following: 

Leon Simon, Esq. 
Deputy District Attorney 
200 S. Third Si, 
Las Vegas. NV 0155 

Cal Ironer, Eq. 
1125 Shadow Lane 
Las Vegas, NV 89102 

Robert D. Neerell 
1300 S.W. Fifth Amu; Suite 2300  
Portland, Oregon 97201 

acco. Cook 
Dept 7, Law Clerk 
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ORDER OF AFFIRMANCE  

DEPtic 

This is an appeal from an order of the district court denying a 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

DALE EDWARD FLANAGAN, 
Appellant, 

vs. 
THE STATE OF NEVADA, 
Respondent.  

No. 40232 

FILED 

post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus in a death penalty case. 

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County; Mark W. Gibbons and 

Michelle Leavitt, Judges. 

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

Appellant Dale Flanagan's grandparents, Carl and Colleen 

Gordon, were found dead on November 6, 1984, Carl having been shot 

seven times in the back and chest and Colleen having been shot three 

times in the head. Six young men were involved in the plot to kill the 

Gordons. Flanagan shot Colleen, and his codefendant Randolph Moore 

shot Carl. Flanagan and Moore were tried in September and October 1985 

along with two other codefendants, Johnny Ray Luckett and Roy 

McDowell. The four men were convicted, and Flanagan and Moore 

received death sentences. Tom Akers and Michael Walsh were also 

charged in the murders and pleaded guilty to manslaughter and two 

counts of murder, respectively. 

On direct appeal, this court characterized as overwhelming 

the evidence that Flanagan, Moore, Luckett, and McDowell killed the 

Gordons so that Flanagan could obtain insurance proceeds and an 

inheritance. Although this court affirmed Flanagan's convictions, it 

000972 



reversed his and Moore's sentences and remanded the matter for a new 

penalty hearing due to prosecutorial misconduct. 1  Flanagan and Moore 

were again sentenced to death, and they appealed. This court affirmed the 

death sentences. 2  The United States Supreme Court vacated that 

decision, however, and remanded for reconsideration due to evidence 

presented at the second penalty hearing regarding Flanagan and Moore's 

occult beliefs and activities. 3  Upon remand, this court held that use of 

such evidence had been unconstitutional and remanded the case to the 

district court for a third penalty hearing. 4  After the third hearing, 

Flanagan and Moore once again received death sentences, and this court 

affirmed the sentences on appea1. 5  

Flanagan filed a timely post-conviction petition for a writ of 

habeas corpus. The district court summarily dismissed all of Flanagan's 

claims save his claim that personality conflicts between his two penalty 

hearing counsel deprived him of the effective assistance of counsel. The 

district court denied this claim as well after an evidentiary hearing. This 

appeal followed. 

DISCUSSION  

Flanagan argues on appeal that the district court erred in 

denying his habeas petition without conducting an evidentiary hearing on 

1 Flanagan v. State (Flanagan I), 104 Nev. 105, 754 P.2d 836 (1988). 

2Flanagan v. State (Flanagan II), 107 Nev. 243, 810 P.2d 759 (1991). 

3Moore v. Nevada, 503 U.S. 930 (1992). 

4Flanagan v. State (Flanagan III), 109 Nev. 50, 846 P.2d 1053 
(1993). 

5Flanagan v. State (Flanagan IV), 112 Nev. 1409, 930 P.2d 691 
(1996). 
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all of his claims but one. A post-conviction petitioner cannot rely on 

conclusory claims for relief. 6  An evidentiary hearing is required only if the 

claims presented in the petition are supported with specific factual 

allegations that if true would entitle the petitioner to relief. 7  A petitioner 

is not entitled to an evidentiary hearing if the factual allegations are 

belied or repelled by the record. 8  

Initially, we address a procedural default matter raised by the 

State. In 1995, approximately one week prior to the commencement of his 

third penalty hearing, Flanagan filed a post-conviction petition for a writ 

of habeas corpus. The district court summarily denied the petition 

without making findings of fact and conclusions of law. Subsequently, the 

district court held a hearing respecting its denial of the petition. At that 

hearing, the parties discussed a mandamus petition that Flanagan had 

filed with this court challenging the district court's denial of his habeas 

petition. In denying the mandamus petition, this court stated that a 

denial of a habeas petition was an independently appealable 

determination and not an appropriate matter for extraordinary relief. 

After some discussion of the jurisdictional posture of the habeas petition, 

the district court concluded that its denial of the petition would be 

appealable only upon the entry of a final judgment in the criminal action. 

In this case, the district court concluded, the third penalty hearing 

remained pending and unresolved. Consequently, the district court 

concluded that Flanagan's notice of appeal did not divest it of jurisdiction 

6Evans v. State,  117 Nev. 609, 621, 28 P.3d 498, 507 (2001). 

7Id.; Hargrove v. State,  100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). 

8Hargrove,  100 Nev. at 503, 686 P.2d at 225. 
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to proceed with the third penalty hearing. After the third penalty hearing, 

this court considered the appeal from the district court's denial of habeas 

relief, along with Flanagan's appeal from his third penalty hearing. 9  

The State argues that to the extent the instant petition raised 

guilt phase issues, it is procedurally barred and successive in light of the 

1995 habeas petition. We disagree. In denying the 1995 habeas petition, 

the district court essentially considered it premature in light of the then 

pending third penalty hearing and concluded that the filing of a notice of 

appeal did not divest its jurisdiction to proceed with the third penalty 

hearing. Because the 1995 petition was premature, we conclude that guilt 

phase matters raised in the instant habeas petition are not procedurally 

barred. 

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel  

In his habeas petition, Flanagan raised a host of ineffective 

assistance of counsel claims relating to both the guilt phase of trial and 

subsequent penalty hearings. To state a claim of ineffective assistance of 

counsel sufficient to invalidate a judgment of conviction, Flanagan must 

demonstrate that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness and that counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the 

defense. 1° He must demonstrate prejudice by showing a reasonable 

probability that but for counsel's errors the result of the trial would have 

been different. 11  

9Flanagan IV, 112 Nev. 1409, 930 P.2d 691. 

1°See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Kirksey v.  
State, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). 

11See Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 43-44, 83 P.3d 818, 823 (2004). 
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reasonable probability a motion in limine would have been successful even 

had counsel filed one. Moreover, the other evidence presented by the 

State overwhelmingly proved that Flanagan and his codefendants planned 

and executed the murder plot for financial gain, not because of the 

influence of witchcraft. Therefore, the district court did not err in 

summarily dismissing this claim. 

Flanagan argues that the district court erred in dismissing his 

claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the presence of 

armed guards and the jury's observation of him in shackles. Based on our 

review of the record and Flanagan's submissions in support of this claim, 

however, we conclude that his claims fail to establish a reasonable 

probability that the result of his trial would have been different had 

counsel objected. Therefore, we conclude that the district court did not err 

in summarily dismissing this claim. 

Flanagan further contends that the district court erred in 

dismissing his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to secure a 

proper record of several bench conferences. He neglects, however, to 

explain any prejudice resulting from the absence of a record of these 

conferences. 13  Therefore, we conclude that the district court did not err in 

summarily dismissing this claim. 

Flanagan also complains that the district court erroneously 

dismissed his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the 

vagueness of the information on the ground that it did not provide him 

adequate notice respecting the State's theory of liability in Carl Gordon's 

death. He argues that although the information charged him as an aider 

and abettor in Carl's murder, the State proceeded to trial on the theory 

13See Daniel v. State,  119 Nev. 498, 608, 78 P.3d 890, 897 (2003). 
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that he acted as a principal. NRS 195.020 provides, however, that one 

who aids or abets in the commission of a crime "is a principal and shall be 

proceeded against and punished as such." Further, the record shows that 

the State's theory throughout the proceedings was that Flanagan shot 

Colleen Gordon and that he aided and abetted Moore in Carl's shooting. 

No evidence was adduced suggesting that Flanagan shot Carl Gordon. 

Therefore, we conclude that the district court did not err in summarily 

dismissing this claim. 

Flanagan also asserts that the district court erred in 

dismissing his claim that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to 

the district court's requirement that all defense counsel agree on the 

exercise of peremptory challenges. NRS 175.041 provides: "When several 

defendants are tried together, they cannot sever their peremptory 

challenges, but must join them." As we have long upheld the 

constitutionality of this mandate," there was no reasonable basis upon 

which counsel should have objected. Therefore, we conclude that the 

district court did not err in summarily dismissing this claim. 

Flanagan further contends that the district court erred in 

dismissing his claim that counsel failed to investigate his mental state and 

prove that he was under the influence of powerful psychotropic drugs on 

the night of the crime, which combined with his preexisting mental 

condition rendered him incapable of formulating any plan or intent to kill. 

Flanagan also asserts that counsel should have requested a competency 

hearing and reviewed his jail records. 

"See, e.g., White v. State, 83 Nev. 292, 297, 429 P.2d 55, 58 (1967) 
(concerning NRS 175.015, the predecessor to NRS 175.041). 

7 

000978 



To support these claims, Flanagan produced several affidavits 

and other documentation during post-conviction proceedings. In one 

affidavit, a psychologist described Flanagan's alleged troubled childhood, 

abuse by his stepfather and Carl Gordon, and Flanagan's drug abuse. 

However, the psychologist did not indicate that Flanagan was legally 

incompetent when he committed the charged crimes or was otherwise 

unable to form the intent necessary to kill. 

Flanagan also produced an affidavit from Angela Saldana, an 

acquaintance of all the codefendants and Flanagan's former girlfriend, 

wherein she stated that Flanagan and Akers told her that Flanagan 

ingested "acid" on the night of the murders. She also averred that 

Flanagan often drank alcohol, smoked marijuana, "took speed, and acid, 

and sometimes took mushrooms." However, Flanagan does not allege that 

he ever advised counsel that he was under the influence of LSD on the 

night of the murders or at any other time. And trial counsel's affidavit is 

silent as to whether he was aware of Flanagan's alleged LSD abuse. 

Flanagan also included correctional-facility medical records 

listing the medication he was receiving during 1985. Although these 

records show that Flanagan was administered a number of drugs prior to 

trial, none were specifically identified as psychotropic. Further, Flanagan 

failed to identify which psychotropic drug he was allegedly taking that 

rendered him incompetent to stand trial. And although Flanagan claims 

that he was forced to take psychotropic drugs, his documentation does not 

bear that out. Moreover, nothing in the trial transcripts suggests that 

Flanagan was incompetent. In addition, a psychiatrist with the Southern 

Nevada Adult Mental Health Services stated in a psychiatric examination 

report dated approximately three months before Flanagan's original trial 
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commenced that Flanagan was "fully competent to stand trial as he 

understands exactly the court procedures." 

Nothing in Flanagan's submissions indicates that counsel had 

any reason to suspect that Flanagan was under the influence of 

psychotropic drugs at any time or that he was incompetent. And 

considering the evidence presented at trial and Flanagan's submissions, 

we conclude that the record repels his claim that he was legally 

incompetent or otherwise unable to form the requisite intent to kill. 

Moreover, even if counsel had discovered and produced at trial Flanagan's 

desired evidence, he failed to demonstrate that the absence of it prejudiced 

him in light of the overwhelming evidence that he was instrumental in 

devising the murder plot and the killings were planned over the course of 

several weeks. Therefore, we conclude that the district court did not err in 

summarily dismissing this claim. 15  

Flanagan contends that his trial counsel was ineffective for 

failing to object to the aiding and abetting instructions on the ground that 

they failed to inform the jury of the specific intent necessary to hold him 

liable as an aider and abettor in Carl Gordon's murder under Sharma v. 

State. 16  However, even assuming counsel should have objected to the 

15To the extent Flanagan argues that the district court should have 
ordered a competency hearing, this claim was appropriate for direct 
appeal. As he failed to show good cause for failing to raise this claim 
previously and prejudice, we conclude that the district court did not err in 
summarily dismissing this claim. See NRS 34.810(b)(2). 

16 118 Nev. 648, 56 P.3d 868 (2002); see Mitchell v. State,  122 Nev. 
 , 149 P.3d 33, 38 & n.25 (2006) (holding that Sharma  clarified existing 
law and did not apply retroactively). 
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challenged instructions, Flanagan cannot demonstrate prejudice here. 

The State presented overwhelming evidence that Flanagan and his 

cohorts planned and executed the murders expressly so that Flanagan 

would receive life insurance and inheritance proceeds. Murdering both 

Carl and Colleen was necessary to effectuate this objective. Flanagan, 

Moore, and the others devised the murderous plot at least one month prior 

to the killings, discussing in detail who would shoot Carl and Colleen and 

in what manner, how the men would gain entry into the Gordon residence, 

and the types of weapons to be used. The men also agreed that the 

murders would be made to look like a robbery or burglary gone wrong. 

The evidence overwhelmingly supports a finding that Flanagan had the 

intent necessary to be held liable for Carl's murder under an aiding or 

abetting theory of liability. Consequently, we conclude that Flanagan has 

not demonstrated a reasonable probability that the result of his trial 

would have been different had counsel objected to the aiding and abetting 

instructions.° Therefore, we conclude that the district court did not err in 

summarily dismissing this claim. 

Finally, Flanagan asserts that the district court erroneously 

dismissed his claim that the cumulative impact of counsel's deficient 

performance mandates reversal of his conviction. Based on the foregoing 

discussion, we conclude that there was no cumulative error and that the 

district court did not err in summarily dismissing this claim. 

'7To the extent Flanagan argues that the district court's instructions 
respecting aiding or abetting do not comport with Sharma, We conclude 
that this claim is procedurally barred absent a showing of good cause and 
actual prejudice, which Flanagan has failed to demonstrate. See NRS 
34.810(1)(b), (3). 
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before the penalty hearing. He suggests that given sufficient time, the 

psychologist would have discovered that Flanagan suffered from major 

mental disorders such as post-traumatic stress disorder and depression; 

that he was intoxicated at the time of the offense; that he was remorseful; 

that he was chronically abused by his parents and grandparents; that he 

acted under the domination of others; and that he lacked the capacity to 

conform his conduct to the law. The record shows, however, that counsel 

presented evidence of Flanagan's drug abuse and neglect and abuse by his 

parents. Flanagan's claims and submissions fail to establish that his 

counsel were ineffective in their preparation of the psychologist or the 

presentation of his testimony. Therefore, we conclude that the district 

court did not err in summarily dismissing this claim. 

Flanagan further contends that counsel were ineffective for 

failing to move for severance of his penalty hearing from codefendant 

Moore and that this omission precluded the defense from presenting an 

individualized mitigation case. However, Flanagan does not adequately 

explain how he was prejudiced by this omission. Therefore, we conclude 

that the district court did not err in summarily dismissing this claim. 

Flanagan next contends that his counsel were ineffective for 

failing to hire a mitigation expert, performing no psychological or 

psychiatric investigation, and conducting very little investigation of his 

adaptation to prison life. First, Flanagan fails to explain what a 

mitigation expert would have contributed to his case had such an expert 

been secured. Second, counsel retained an expert psychologist; therefore, 

his claim that counsel conducted no psychological or psychiatric 

investigation is belied by the record. Finally, counsel called several prison 

chaplains and a prison guard who testified about Flanagan's conduct in 

prison. Flanagan fails to identify what additional testimony he desired 

1 2 
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ineffective in this regard. Thus, the district court did not err in summarily 

dismissing this claim. 2' 

Flanagan also raised a number of claims related to his first 

and second penalty hearings. We conclude that these claims are moot as 

Flanagan received a third penalty hearing. Therefore, the district court 

did not err in summarily dismissing them. 

Miscellaneous claims 

Flanagan alleges that the district court erred in improperly 

depriving him of the funds necessary to investigate and present his claims 

and denying his discovery request. Attorneys Robert D. Newell and Cal J. 

Potter represented Flanagan in the instant post-conviction proceeding 

below. They secured two orders from the district court in July 1998 and 

February 1999 granting investigative fees not to exceed $1,000 and 

$15,000, respectively. In December 1999, counsel filed a motion in the 

district court seeking reimbursement for investigative fees in the amount 

of $128,774.89. Counsel filed another motion on August 3, 2000, seeking 

reimbursement in the amount of $105,275.38 expended in securing 

additional investigative services. On August 29, 2000, the district court 

denied these two motions, concluding that the $234,050.27 requested was 

excessive. The record also shows that the district court granted counsel's 

motions for neuropsychological examination funds in the amount of $7,500 

and social historian investigation funds in the amount of $17,550. 

21To the extent that Flanagan argued that his appellate counsel was 
ineffective for failing to raise all the claims he alleged in his petition, we 
conclude that he did not establish that these claims had a reasonable 
probability of success on appeal. See Lara v. State, 120 Nev. 177, 184, 87 
P.3d 528, 532 (2004). Therefore, we conclude that the district court did 
not err in summarily dismissing these claims. 
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We conclude that Flanagan has failed to demonstrate how he 

was prejudiced by the district court's action on this issue. The record 

shows that although counsel was not reimbursed for the total amount, 

Flanagan received the benefit of $275,100.27 in investigative services. He 

has not sufficiently explained what additional funds were necessary to 

adequately investigate his claims or how he was prejudiced by the denial 

of his discovery request. 22  Therefore, we conclude that the district court 

did not err in this regard. 

Flanagan claims that his conviction and sentence were invalid 

because the trial and appellate judges responsible for the rulings in his 

case were elected and beholden to the electorate and, therefore, these 

tribunals could not be impartial. He neglects, however, to substantiate 

this claim with any specific factual allegations demonstrating actual 

prejudice. Therefore, we conclude that the district court did not err in 

summarily dismissing this claim. 

Flanagan next argues that this court failed to conduct fair and 

adequate appellate review pursuant to NRS 177.055(2)(c)-(e), which 

requires this court to determine whether sufficient evidence supports any 

aggravating circumstance, whether the death sentence was imposed under 

the influence of passion, prejudice, or any arbitrary factor, and whether 

the death sentence is excessive. The nature of Flanagan's complaint is 

unclear. To the extent he complains that this court on direct appeal failed 

to explicitly discuss the three inquiries mandated by NRS 177.055(2)(c)- 

22To the extent that counsel complains that the district court 
improperly denied their motions for reimbursement, we conclude that such 
a claim is inappropriately presented in the context of this appeal. 

1 5 



(e), we conclude that Flanagan fails to demonstrate that he was 

prejudiced. The evidence sufficiently supported the four aggravating 

circumstances the jury found. There is no indication that the death 

penalty was imposed under the influence of passion, prejudice, or any 

arbitrary factor. Finally, this court has stated that the death penalty was 

not excessive in this case. 23  Consequently, we conclude that the district 

court did not err in summarily dismissing this claim. 

Application of McConnell v. State  

Flanagan argues that his death sentence is unconstitutional 

under McConnell v. State 24  because the State used the same felony to 

support his conviction on a felony-murder theory and to support one of the 

aggravating circumstances. In the guilt phase of the trial, the State 

proceeded on theories of premeditated, deliberate murder and felony 

murder, alleging that both murders were committed during the 

perpetration of a robbery and burglary. The jury's guilt phase verdict, 

however, simply finds Flanagan guilty of first-degree murder, without 

specifying the theory or theories upon which the jury may have based its 

verdict. 

During the penalty hearing, the jury found four aggravating 

circumstances: that Flanagan knowingly created a great risk of death to 

more than one person; that the murders were committed while he was 

engaged in the commission of a robbery; that the murders were committed 

while he was engaged in the commission of a burglary; and that the 

murders were committed to receive money or any other thing of monetary 

23Flanagan IV,  112 Nev. at 1423 -24, 930 P.2d at 700. 

24 120 Nev. 1043, 102 P.3d 606 (2004). 
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value. The jury found three mitigating circumstances: that Flanagan had 

no significant history of prior criminal activity; his youth at the time of the 

murders; and "[Any other mitigating circumstances." 

In McConnell  this court deemed "it impermissible under the 

United States and Nevada Constitutions to base an aggravating 

circumstance in a capital prosecution on the felony upon which a felony 

murder is predicated." 25  And in Bejarano v. State,  this court held that 

McConnell  has retroactive application. 26  Thus, Flanagan can show good 

cause for failing to raise this claim previously. 27  Pursuant to McConnell,  

the burglary and robbery aggravating circumstances must be stricken. 28  

However, he must still demonstrate actual prejudice resulting from the 

consideration of the erroneous aggravating circumstances. 

After striking the burglary and robbery aggravating 

circumstances, two remain: Flanagan knowingly created a great risk of 

death to more than one person, and he committed the murders to receive 

money or any other thing of monetary value. This court may uphold a 

death sentence based in part on an invalid aggravator by reweighing the 

aggravating and mitigating evidence or conducting a harmless-error 

25Id. at 1069, 102 P.3d at 624. 

26 122 Nev. 	138 P.3d 265 (2006). 

27See Clem v. State,  119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525-26 (2003) 
(stating that good cause can be shown where the legal basis for the claim 
was previously unavailable). 

28Because the robbery and burglary aggravating circumstances must 
be stricken pursuant to McConnell,  Flanagan's challenge to them on other 
grounds is moot. 
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review. 29  If we conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would 

have found Flanagan death eligible and imposed a sentence of death 

despite the erroneous aggravating circumstances, then the error was 

harmless, and his claim is procedurally barred because he has failed to 

demonstrate actual prejudice. 39  After reweighing here, we conclude 

beyond a reasonable doubt that absent the erroneous aggravators the jury 

would have nonetheless found Flanagan death eligible and imposed a 

death sentence. 

After striking the erroneous burglary and robbery 

aggravating circumstances, two viable ones remain. The receiving-money 

aggravating circumstance is especially compelling in this case, as it was 

the impetus for the murders. And the "creating a great risk of death" 

aggravating circumstance soundly applies to the multiple murders 

committed in this case in 1984, prior to the adoption of NRS 200.033(12). 31  

We conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury would not have 

found the three mitigating circumstances—Flanagan's youth, lack of prior 

criminal record, and "any other mitigating circumstances"—sufficient to 

outweigh the two remaining aggravating circumstances. We further 

conclude that the jury would have imposed a sentence of death. The 

murders in this case were particularly brutal and disturbing considering 

the familial relationship between the victims and Flanagan and the 

evidence establishing that Flanagan shot his grandmother. Moreover, the 

29See Clemons v. Mississippi, 494 U.S. 738, 741 (1990). 

30See Browning v. State, 120 Nev. 347, 364-65, 91 P.3d 39, 51-52 
(2004); Leslie v. Warden, 118 Nev. 773, 784, 69 P.3d 440, 448 (2002). 

31Flanagan IV, 112 Nev. at 1420-21, 930 P.2d at 698-99. 

18 

000989 



methodical planning exercised in the plot appreciably raised the level of 

malevolence displayed in these senseless murders. 

Direct appeal claims 

Flanagan raised a number of claims that were appropriate for 

direct appeal. We conclude, however, that Flanagan showed neither good 

cause for failing to raise these issues earlier nor actual prejudice. 32  

Therefore, we conclude that the district court did not err in summarily 

dismissing these claims. Although these claims are procedurally barred, 

we elect to comment on two of his allegations. 

Flanagan argued that the district court improperly directed 

defense objections and motions to be made to the court reporter and 

outside his and the jury's presence. In an effort to streamline anticipated 

frequent objections related to severance matters, Judge Donald M. Mosely 

instructed all defense counsel to either wait until there was break in the 

trial to raise an objection or ask the district court for leave to approach the 

court reporter and inform her of the nature of the objection counsel desired 

to be recorded. Although we conclude that Flanagan failed to overcome 

applicable procedural default rules in raising this claim in his habeas 

petition, 33  we take this opportunity to express our disproval of the district 

court's procedure in this regard. Parties are required to assert 

contemporaneous objections to preserve alleged errors for appellate 

review. 34  Judge Mosely's unusual procedure frustrated the defense's 

ability to comply with this fundamental rule of appellate review. 

32See NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2); State v. Williams,  120 Nev. 473, 476-77, 
93 P.3d 1258, 1260 (2004). 

33See NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2), (3). 

34See McKague v. State,  101 Nev. 327, 330,705 P.2d 127, 129 (1985). 

SUPREME 0:3[..'F2r 

NEYIAGA 

000990 



Additionally, it precluded the defense from securing any cautionary 

instructions to the jury should such instructions become necessary during 

the course of the trial. Therefore, we caution the district court to refrain 

from employing such practices that may impede a party's ability to comply 

with elemental rules of trial and appellate practice. 

Flanagan also argued that he was prejudiced by the district 

court's instruction to the jury on premeditation and deliberation, 

commonly known as the Kazalyn  instruction. 36  This instruction was later 

determined in Byford v. State 36  to inadequately explain the distinction 

between first- and second-degree murder. Flanagan also contends that 

Polk v. Sandova1, 37  a recent decision by the United States Court of Appeals 

for the Ninth Circuit, mandates reversal of his first-degree murder 

conviction. In sum, Polk  concluded that in reviewing the Kazalyn  

instruction in Byforcl,  this court ignored clearly established federal law 

holding that an instruction omitting an element of the crime and relieving 

the prosecution of its burden of proof violates the federal Constitution. 38  

The Polk court concluded that given the "State's exceptionally weak 

evidence of deliberation," it could not conclude that the instructional error 

was harmless in that case. 39  We conclude however, that the evidence 

adduced at trial overwhelming established that Flanagan and his cohorts 

methodically planned the murders for pecuniary gain. Considering Polk 

36Kazalyn v. State,  108 Nev. 67, 75, 825 P.2d 578, 583 (1992). 

36 116 Nev. 215, 994 P.2d 700 (2000). 

37503 F.3d 903 (9th Cir. 2007). 

38Polk, 503 F.3d at 911. 

39Id. at 913. 
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